

BEAVER COLLEGE OF HEALTH SCIENCES APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY

APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE NURSING PROGRAM STUDENT HANDBOOK

2018 - 2019

GRADUATE NURSING PROGRAM

Master of Science in Nursing Concentration: Nursing Education

Physical Location

Department of Nursing Leon Levine Hall of the Beaver College of Health Sciences 1179 State Farm Road Boone, NC

Simulation Lab

Leon Levine Hall of the Beaver College of Health Sciences 1179 State Farm Road Boone, NC

Mailing Address / Contact Information

Department of Nursing ASU Box 32151 Boone, NC 28608-2151 Phone: (828) 262-8039

Fax: (828)262-8066 nursing.appstate.edu

Distance Education

University Hall
400 University Hall Drive, 2nd Floor
Boone, NC 28608
ASU Box 32054
Phone: 828-262-3113

Toll-Free: 800-355-4084 Fax: 828-265-8673 <u>distance@appstate.edu</u>

Faculty Offices are located in Leon Levine Hall of the Beaver College of Health Sciences 1179 State Farm Road Boone, North Carolina

Appalachian State University's Department of Nursing supports the mission of the University and the Beaver College of Health Sciences which includes excellence in teaching/learning, the fostering of scholarship and service to the community, the development of students to lead purposeful lives as engaged global citizens who understand their responsibilities in creating a sustainable future for all. The complete text of these statements is included in the *Appalachian State University Graduate Bulletin*, 2017-2018.

The Department of Nursing does not discriminate on the basis of race, national origin, gender, religion, or disability.

Table of Contents

Forward	4
Philosophy	5
Vision, Mission, and Goals	6
MSN Curriculum	7
Courses of Instruction in Nursing: MSN Curriculum	10
Graduate Nursing Program Grading Policies	
Progression in the MSN program	14
Student Advisement	16
Guidelines for Master's Project/Thesis	17
Policies	
Core Performance Standards	32
Course Policies related to online and hybrid courses	33
Student Conduct	36
Universal Confidentiality Policy and Agreement	38
Social Media Policy	41
Health Status and Immunization Policy	
Student Criminal Background Check and Drug Screening Policy	45
Guidelines for Assessing Crimes and Misconduct	49
Safety and Technical Standards Policy and Procedure	51
Accident and Injury Policy and Procedure	55
Policy for Event Reporting and Form	57
Forms	
Universal Confidentiality Agreement	59
Drug Screening and Criminal Background Check Acknowledgement and Agreement	60
Department of Nursing Mandatory Admission Physical Exam	62
Annual Health, Safety, and Technical Standards Self-Evaluation	63
Annual and PRN PPD Record	68
Two Step PPD Record	
Annual Tuberculosis Screening Questionnaire	71
Accident or Injury Event Report	73
Safety and Technical Standards Form	76
Final Grade Appeal Form	80
Clinical Event Form	81
Scholarly Project Committee Membership	84
Project/Thesis Authorship and Submission Contract	85
Student Agreement Form	88

Date of Update: August 2018

FORWARD

Welcome to the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing. This handbook contains the most essential and commonly used policies of the University, as well as specific nursing program policies. Please note that the Handbook is subject to change as the program grows and policies are refined. As you begin your nursing education at Appalachian State University, remember that you are the nursing leaders of tomorrow. Take pride in Appalachian State University and in the education that will advance your career in nursing.

PHILOSOPHY

NURSING

Nursing is a practice discipline that provides a vital and distinctive service to global society through utilization of principles from nursing, physical, biological, and social sciences, arts, humanities and mathematics to assist individuals, families, groups, communities and populations achieve an optimal level of health. The focus is on holistic health through evidence based practice and patient centered care. Professional nursing care is predicated on effective communication and critical thinking skills, current knowledge for evidence-based practice (EBP), technical and assessment skills, the nursing process, and a code of professional ethics. Nurses are vital members of the collaborative healthcare team and practice in multiple and diverse environments, to promote optimal healthy functioning of persons.

PERSON

Each person is a holistic being who embodies inherent dignity and worth, and the right to self-determination. The focus of nursing care is persons as individual, family, groups, communities and/or populations. There is a synergistic relationship among person, nursing, health, and environment.

HEALTH

Health is defined by the perception of each person. Health is viewed holistically and includes the way persons interact with their environment.

ENVIRONMENT

Environment provides the context for human life, internal and external. The combined influences of the external and internal environments determine the growth and development of persons and their state of health.

NURSING EDUCATION

Nursing education encompasses scholarly inquiry and evidence based practice to prepare professionals to enhance well-being and healthcare outcomes for individuals, families, groups, communities and/or populations. While the faculty is committed to appreciating each student's uniqueness and accommodating each student's learning needs, the faculty expects students to be responsible for their own learning and to engage with the faculty in a dynamic, interactive, educational process. Nursing Education is a mutual endeavor in which students and faculty share, pursue, and generate knowledge in a collaborative setting.

VISION, MISSION, AND GOALS

VISION STATEMENT

Appalachian State University Department of Nursing will provide evidence-based nursing education in an intellectually stimulating and challenging environment that is designed to prepare the beginning and advanced professional nurse with the knowledge and skills needed to practice in diverse settings in a highly complex health care system.

MISSION

The mission of the Department of Nursing at Appalachian State University is to advance our students' cultural, intellectual, and personal development in order to prepare them for professional practice as registered nurses in entry level and advanced roles. This mission is achieved through the efforts of faculty committed to excellence in teaching, scholarship, and service. A broad, in-depth curriculum is provided built on the study of arts, humanities, mathematics, natural and social sciences, and standards for professional nursing practice. Graduates serve their community by applying research and principles of education in their practice of nursing in entry level and advanced roles.

GOALS

The goals of the MSN program are to:

- 1. Provide nurse educators with a foundation in relevant theories, methodologies, knowledge and skills.
- 2. Prepare nurse educators with skills to utilize scientific inquiry related to safe, evidence-based, quality nursing care.
- 3. Educate nurses to employ effective communication strategies and technologies as a leader in collaboration with the interdisciplinary healthcare team.
- 4. Develop nurse educators for leadership roles in teaching diverse audiences.

PROGRAM OUTCOMES

At the completion of the program, the MSN graduate will:

- 1) Integrate holistic best practices into education offerings for individuals and groups in academic, patient care and staff development settings.
- 2) Develop an ongoing professional nursing role through scientific inquiry and lifelong learning and ethical practices.
- 3) Integrate nursing and related sciences and humanities required for solving practice problems as an educator, practitioner or nursing leader in a variety of practice environments.
- 4) Apply information, communication and emerging technologies and teaching-learning principles in collaboration with the inter-professional patient care teams for the improvement of health outcomes and disease management.

- 5) Apply professional regulatory and accreditation standards including health care policies impacting professional nursing practice and health care quality and safety.
- 6) Design, implement, and evaluate educational offerings for individuals and groups that promote desired learner/patient outcomes.
- 7) Exhibit cultural competence in delivering appropriate educational offerings to individuals, families, communities, and special populations.
- 8) Demonstrate advocacy related to rural health issues impacting nursing care provision including education, practice and administration.

MSN Curriculum

The Master of Science in Nursing (MSN)

- 1. Admissions requirements for the program
 - Minimum admission requirements for graduate study as established by the University
 - A Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) degree with an upper division nursing major from a
 program accredited by the National League for Nursing (NLNAC) or the Commission on Collegiate
 Nursing Education (CCNE). Or a student who is a graduate of an accredited associate degree nursing
 program or diploma nursing program with a baccalaureate degree in another field is also admissible.
 - Current, unrestricted RN license in North Carolina or a state participating in the Nurse Licensure Compact (NLC) with North Carolina.
 - Undergraduate grade point average of 3.0 on a 4.0 scale
 - Bachelor's or post-Bachelor's course work must include satisfactory completion (grade of C or higher) of a course in descriptive and inferential statistics (basic biostatistics).
 - Bachelor's or post-Bachelor's course work must include satisfactory completion (grade of C or higher) of a course in research.
 - Satisfactory performance on the Graduate Record Examination (GRE) or Miller Analogies Test (MAT) within the past five years. An applicant is eligible for waiver of the GRE or MAT for admission in the program if an applicants' GPA from a Bachelor of Science in Nursing program is 3.5 or greater; OR if the average of the applicant's GPAs from an Associate Degree program or a Diploma program and a RN to BSN degree program equals 3.5 or greater.
 - Completion of application for graduate study and supplemental forms for the Master of Science in Nursing Program.
 - Applicants must have at least one year of nursing experience before matriculation.
 - Complete graduate application and non-refundable application fee.
 - Official transcripts of all previous college-level academic work.
 - Three letters of reference (academic or professional).

• A current resume including career goals and a statement of the applicant's philosophy of nursing.

Acceptance to the University and the Beaver College of Health Sciences, completion of preliminary course work, GPA, and standardized test scores do not guarantee admission to the MSN program. Admission of students is a competitive process. Not all applicants who meet the requirements can be accommodated; therefore, applicants whose credentials present the best qualifications for those meeting the requirements will be selected.

The GRE will be waived for applicants of the MSN program who have a GPA of 3.5 in a 4-year BSN program or an average of 3.5 in an Associate Degree program and RN to BSN program.

2. Degree requirements

- Total hours required: The Master of Science in Nursing (MSN) program consists of 39 credit hours. No minor, and no general education courses are required.
- Other requirements:
 - A thesis or scholarly project will be required; Students can elect a non-thesis option, in which case they will conduct a scholarly project.
 - A minimum average of 3.0 is required and no more than 3 grades at the C level (C or C-) are allowed.
- 3. Amount of transfer credit accepted: Up to 9 semester hours (as per graduate school policy) may be accepted as transfer credit upon approval from the nursing faculty.

Courses of Instruction in Nursing: MSN Curriculum

NUR 5040 Theories for Advanced Nursing Practice (3 sh)

This course is designed to provide students with the necessary knowledge and skills to integrate theories from behavioral, social, applied, and nursing science to both individual patients for whom they directly care and to those individuals for whom they are indirectly responsible. Holistic concepts of human beings, health (emphasizing global and rural health), nursing, and environment provide the foundation for comparing nursing theories. Exploration of theoretical frameworks relevant to nursing provides student knowledge to develop specific care concepts pertinent to cultural diversity, health promotion, and comprehensive practice. Special emphasis is on the integration and application of theory into advanced nursing practice.

NUR 5050 Educational Theories for Nursing Academic and Practice Settings (3 sh)

This course explores foundational knowledge required for the integration of educational theories for the nursing profession. Major research based theories of adult learning, health communication, health literacy, simulation and technology, and knowledge development in nursing will be investigated. Students will assess the implications of these theories in academe and practice settings.

NUR 5070 Contemporary Issues in Nursing (3 sh)

This course enables students to analyze contemporary issues in nursing; including concepts related to quality improvement, patient safety, global health, rural health, healthcare policy, organization, technology in nursing, and financing, the global healthcare environment and perspectives, informatics, health disparities, and interprofessional practice. An emphasis will be placed on a systematic approach to the economic, legal and political factors that influence health care.

NUR 5150 Advanced Health Assessment for Adults (3 sh)

This course prepares the student to perform advanced health assessment of adults building on the student's basic knowledge and skill acquired in undergraduate coursework. Emphasis is placed on the following: analysis of assessment findings to determine leading health needs for well individuals and those with health variances, health risk factor analysis, interprofessional collaboration, health promotion, health literacy, global health, rural health, and clinical decision making. Proficiency in performing a culturally sensitive, holistic, comprehensive health assessment and physical examination is expected upon course completion.

NUR 5200 Advanced Pathophysiology (3 sh)

This course builds upon the students' preparation of biological and physical sciences in the management of health promotion and wellness, disease prevention, and disease management of culturally diverse individuals. Emphasis is placed upon physiology and pathophysiological concepts in an effort to strengthen students' scientific background and facilitate understanding of nursing and the etiology of physiological disruptions. Upon successful completion of this course the student will integrate broad, organizational, patient-centered and culturally competent concepts to pathophysiological understanding in the safe delivery, management, and

evaluation of evidenced-based nursing clinical prevention and population care and services to individuals and their families.

NUR 5250 Nursing Research for Evidence-based Practice (3 sh)

This course is designed to provide students with the necessary knowledge and skills to bring evidence-based practice to both individual patients for whom they directly care and to those individuals for whom they are indirectly responsible. Those skills include knowledge acquisition and dissemination, working in groups, and the application and utilization of research related to global and rural health problems and advanced practice nursing.

NUR: 5715 Instructional Strategies for Nursing and Informatics (3 sh)

This course builds on the educational theories by developing classroom and clinical instructional strategies. Advanced technological knowledge and skills such as use of simulation are emphasized to enhance student learning in numerous settings. The course will include examination of a variety of instructional strategies for creating positive learning environments and evaluating pedagogical strategies. Emphasis is placed on the development and use of creative, interactive strategies and technology supported strategies that challenge and engage the learner

NUR 5800 Advanced Pharmacology for Nursing (3 sh)

This course presents advanced pharmacological concepts as a foundation for theory and practicum courses. Related concepts of critical thinking, evidence-based practice, health literacy, rural and global health, interdisciplinary communication, legal and ethical parameters of practice, and care integration are applied through case study analysis, in-class discussions, and written assignments.

NUR 5810 Educational Tests and Measurement in Nursing (3 sh)

This course is designed to provide nurse educators with the necessary knowledge and skills to measure and evaluate learning outcomes in a variety of settings. Audiences may include nursing students, patients, or other nursing personnel. The concepts of testing, measurement, and evaluation are studied from a nursing perspective. Social, ethical, and legal issues associated with testing and measurement are explored along with continuous quality improvement for program evaluation.

NUR 5820 Nursing Program Development and Evaluation (3 sh)

This course is designed to introduce the student to the ongoing process of development and evaluation of nursing curricula. The teaching, learning, and evaluation processes are examined from the standpoint of education and nursing research and the effect on various curriculum patterns with emphasis placed on the context-relevant curriculum. The course provides opportunity for examination of factors that influence curriculum development, implementation, and evaluation, as well as consideration of the integration of rural and global health concepts and use of technological strategies.

NUR 5900 Nursing Education Practicum (3 sh) Clinical hours: 120

This course provides nurse educators with 120 hours of practical experiences in a teaching role. Students, under the guidance of a mentor/preceptor, design educational offerings based on identified learning outcomes. Best practices regarding instruction and evaluation for culturally diverse audiences are examined.

NUR 5901 Advanced Clinical Practicum (3 sh) Clinical hours: 90

This course represents a clinical learning experience with a preceptor in which the learner will have the opportunity to synthesize and integrate didactic learning, promote innovative thinking, and test new potential solutions to clinical /practice or system issues. The learner will also have opportunity to master patient care delivery skills as well as system assessment and intervention skills which require an understanding of organizational dynamics. Students will focus on a population of interest and a specific role. The course has both an adult health component and a health promotion component. Clinical conferences will be conducted online using discussion forums.

NUR 5600. Research Project (1 sh + 1 sh + 1 sh).

Implementation of an approved research proposal: collection and analysis of data, preparation of report and presentation of the project. May be repeated for a total of 4 credit hours.

NUR 5999 Thesis 3 Semester Hours (1 sh + 1 sh + 1 sh)

This course involves the identification of a problem or knowledge gap in the area of nursing education and the independent pursuit and completion of research to address the problem. Students will utilize the research process to identify the problem, search the literature, develop a methodology, frame the work with existing theory, and conduct the research. Ethical standards will be observed and results linked to application in the profession. The thesis should define original and new knowledge, and may be qualitative, qualitative, or historical in nature. The three semester hours for the course are divided into 1 SH segments completed in each of the final three semesters in the program.

Graduate Nursing Program Grading Policies

Grading Policy

Nursing Program Grading Scale

The particular requirements used in each course for evaluating performance and generation of the course grade are determined by the course instructor. The following grading scale is utilized for all didactic nursing courses. Grades are not rounded in the Nursing Department.

Α 95-100 92-94.99 A-B+89-91.99 В 86-88.99 83-85.99 B-C+80-82.99 C 77-79.99 C-74-76.99 D+71-73.99 D 65-70.99 F 64.99 and lower

Appeals/Grading Disputes/Resolutions:

If a student believes that the course grade is unfair or inaccurate, the student should first discuss this with the course faculty member. If the problem cannot be resolved, the student should then discuss the issue with the Chair of The Department of Nursing. If the issue is still not resolved, the student should refer to the policy and procedure on grievances/appeals found in the on-line Graduate Student Handbook for Appalachian State University. Guidance regarding appeals can be found in the Graduate Bulletin under Academic Requirements and Regulations.

http://bulletin.appstate.edu/content.php?catoid=7&navoid=294&hl=appeal&returnto=search#appeals-processes

Progression in the MSN program

Progression Policy

GPA Policy

Grades on coursework may not average lower than 3.0 at any time in the program. No student may include more than 3 C-level grades in a program of study. No graduate course with a grade of "F" or "U" will be credited toward the degree.

Dismissal policy

A student will be dismissed from the graduate nursing program for any of the following reasons.

- 1. A summative grade of "Unsatisfactory" in a nursing course graded S/U.
- 2. Denial of clinical access by the clinical agency based upon review of a criminal background check or other screening outcomes such as the results of a urine drug screen.
- 3. A refusal of the student to comply with policies and procedures of the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing and/or the clinical agency.
- 4. A student engages in unsafe practice.

Students who are dismissed from the program will receive a formal letter of dismissal from the Chair of the Department of Nursing informing them of the dismissal, the reason for dismissal, and their eligibility (if applicable) for readmission to the program.

Leave of Absence

Any graduate student who has been enrolled in the graduate program and does not register for either Fall, Spring, or Summer courses will be classified by the Graduate School as on leave. If a graduate student needs to take a planned leave of absence from the graduate program, the graduate student is responsible for notifying the Director of the MSN Program as soon as possible, prior to the leave. During leave, a graduate student will not have access to any university resources, including libraries and faculty assistance with projects or thesis.

Prior to returning to classes the student must complete the readmission process from the University Registrar's office (https://graduate.appstate.edu/prospective-students/applying-us-students)

Readmission After Academic Withdrawal

The student who is requesting readmission after academic withdrawal, must submit a letter requesting readmission to the Chair of the Department of Nursing and the MSN Program Director. This letter may be sent by email. This letter should contain the following:

- a. Request to be readmitted to the MSN program.
- b. The student's perception of the factors that led to the academic withdrawal.
- c. An outline of specific plans the student has made to remedy the situation so that if allowed readmission there would be an improved chance for success.

Prior to returning to classes the student must complete the readmission process from the University Registrar's office (https://graduate.appstate.edu/prospective-students/applying-us-students)

The MSN Committee will review the request and will make a recommendation to the Dean of the Graduate School who will in turn make an appeal to the Graduate School. See the Graduate Bulletin for additional information.

http://bulletin.appstate.edu/content.php?catoid=7&navoid=294&hl=appeal&returnto=search#appeals-processes

Graduation Requirements

- Completion of a minimum of 39 credit hours in the required listed courses within 7 years of admittance to the Program.
- Successful completion, defense, and acceptance of either a Scholarly Project or Thesis by the Project/Thesis Committee and Graduate School.
- Be enrolled as a graduate student in the semester of planned graduation.
- Applied for graduation through the Graduate School the semester of planned graduation.
 - Additional graduation requirements by the Graduate School are found at http://bulletin.appstate.edu/content.php?catoid=7&navoid=294&hl=appeal&returnto=search#graduation-requirements

STUDENT ADVISEMENT

Students accepted into the Master of Science in Nursing program are assigned to a faculty academic advisor. The faculty academic advisor works with a student advisee. Faculty advisors provide guidance regarding academic matters including class registration, progression, and professional goals.

Student Input into Quality Program Improvement

The Department of Nursing provides a variety of processes for student input into quality program improvement. Students will have this opportunity through a variety of forums. These forums may include focus groups, committee representation, and individual student evaluations of courses, which contribute to quality programming.

Guidelines for Master's Project/Thesis

All Master of Science in Nursing students are required to complete either a master's scholarly project or thesis. These are scholarly products that demonstrate the student's advanced knowledge and competency in nursing education and practice. Successful and timely completion of the program is contingent upon the student's careful and thoughtful identification with faculty of a feasible project or thesis focus.

Project Option (NUR 5600): (1+1+1)

Purpose and Description

The MSN Project is a scholarly creative product that demonstrates advanced skills in evidence based practice as it relates to an educational problem/issue in nursing. Appropriate projects will vary based on the identified problem but may include an evidence-based practice project, course development/redesign or development of a continuing education and/or patient education offering. Approval of project will be at the discretion of the Chair of Project Committee.

Registration and Grading

The project occurs over three semesters (1 credit hour per semester) for a total of 3 credit hours. Students who do not complete the project in three semesters may continue to register for project credit until the project is successfully completed, provided that they graduate within seven calendar years of date of entry. Projects are graded on an SP/UP basis until the project has been successfully completed and received final approval, at which time all grades will be changed to S.

MSN Project Outcomes

Students will submit a formal written report of the project, a publication ready manuscript, a public oral presentation, and/or written or on-line teaching materials.

Table 1. Examples of Advanced Nursing Projects with Essential Components

Evidence-Based Practice Projects	Course Development/Redesign	Continuing/Patient Education
Problem/Question	Topic/Course	Topic/Patient Problem
Theoretical Framework	Educational Model/Theory	Educational Model/Theory
Review and Appraise the Literature	Review of Literature	Review of Literature
Develop Practice Recommendations	Develop Course	Develop Module/Program
Evaluation/Evaluation Strategy	Evaluation/Evaluation Strategy	Evaluation/Evaluation Strategy

Table 2. Project Steps and Forms by Semester

Semester	Step
First year Fall Semester	Seek advice from MSN Program Director to identify a suitable topic for project.
	2. Review MSN student Handbook Project Guidelines for Master's Project/Thesis.
First year Spring Semester	Identify project topic addressing a problem in nursing education and submit to MSN Program Director.
First Year Summer Semester	 Register for Project for Fall Semester (1 credit, NUR 5600) Sign Special Course Approval Form.

Casand Vasa	1 Calcat Duringt agammittag mambang
Second Year Fall Semester	1. Select Project committee members.
	2. Complete the Scholarly Project Committee Membership Form (filed in Department of Nursing). (see attached documents)
	3. Write and defend project proposal.
	4. Following a successful defense of a project proposal, the chair of committee is to complete the Report of Candidacy and/or Proficiency Form.
	Submit IRB documents if applicable following proposal defense approval.
	6. Establish Spring semester meeting dates with project chair and committee for project progress reports.
	7. Register for Project for Spring Semester (1 credit, NUR 5600).
	8. Sign Special Course Approval Form.
Second Year	Carry out project proposal.
Spring Semester	2. Establish Summer semester meeting dates with project chair and committee for project progress reports and oral presentation.
	3. Register for Project for Summer Semester (1 credit, NUR 5600)
	4. Sign Special Course Approval Form.
	5. Apply for graduation.
Second Year Summer Semester	1. Project completion with agreed upon deliverables (a formal written report of the project, a publication ready manuscript, a public oral presentation, and/or written or on-line teaching materials).
	2. Following a successful defense, the chair of the committee is to file a Report of Comprehensive Examination.

The MSN Project Guidelines are designed to serve as a roadmap to the requirements, procedures, and typical progression for completing the MSN Project. The guidelines provide MSN students with the information needed to understand the MSN Project, from the initial stages of committee formation to completion of the project presentation/ defense.

Students are encouraged to begin discussion with their advisor during their first semester of enrollment. The student selects a scholarly focus and initiates conversation with course faculty and the MSN Program Director to develop the scholarly focus during the first year of coursework. During fall of the second year of coursework, students register for 1 credit hour of NUR 5600 Research Project. Students work with the NUR 5600 course faculty, and the Graduate Program Director to identify a project committee chair. The Chair of the Department of Nursing will approve this working relationship. The student and project committee chair will work together to form a project committee.

The student will work with the project committee to develop a formal proposal for the project. The proposal is presented to the committee and must be approved prior to commencement of the project. The student's defense of the MSN Project Proposal serves as the qualifying examination for the MSN program. The MSN proposal presentation (defense) is intended to determine whether the student is prepared and qualified to begin work on the proposed project. At their discretion, members of the project committee may ask fundamental and developmental questions covering the first year of MSN coursework.

Students will work closely with the project committee chair and member(s) to develop the proposal and project. Materials requiring chair and committee review should be submitted on or before due dates. It is the responsibility of the student to manage his/her time appropriately and follow this policy. Failure to submit materials requiring review in a timely manner will delay the project process and ultimately graduation.

During project implementation, committee members are available to the student for consultation and on a negotiated basis, for more intensive or direct involvement with project implementation. When the project is completed, students will present and defend the MSN Project, submit a final report, submit developed materials/modules, and a publication-ready manuscript. Presentation and defense of the MSN Project serves as the comprehensive examination for the MSN program. The oral presentation and defense serve to determine that the student has met requirements of the MSN Project and has completed a project reflective of master's level academic work.

Authorship of any information disseminated from the project (posters, presentations, manuscripts) should be decided on at the time of proposal development with the chair and the committee. Students may be asked to sign an agreement (see Project/ Thesis Authorship and Submission Contract Form) with the committee outlining expectations for manuscript/ poster/ abstract submission, authorship and order, time limits for submission, and the chair's right to publish work if the student has not submitted the manuscript for publication or poster for presentation within the agreed upon timeframe.

Project Committee Membership

The MSN Project committee members have important responsibilities at the proposal, project implementation, and final project presentation/ defense stages. As a result, committee member(s) should be selected carefully.

At the proposal stage, committee members are responsible for assisting with the development of the MSN Project proposal, reading and evaluating the proposal, attending the MSN Project proposal defense, providing the student with constructive feedback and specific expectations for project improvement, and evaluating the student's readiness to proceed with project implementation. The project chair is responsible for ensuring that the student meets with committee members at least once before the proposal is submitted for review and approval.

During project implementation, committee members consult with the student and assist with problem solving as needed. At the final defense stage, committee members are responsible for reading and evaluating the final scholarly paper, attending and evaluating the presentation/ defense, and providing constructive feedback regarding the project.

There will be at least two meetings of the entire committee, one for approval and defense of the project proposal, and one for the final presentation/ defense and evaluation of the completed project.

Duties of Project Committee Chair

The Project Chair:

- directs the student's project and submits a grade of SP (successful progress) or UP (unsuccessful progress) at the end of each term of enrollment;
- ensures that the student has complied with all federal regulations covering the use of human or animal subjects in the project if applicable;
- assists the student by redirecting, limiting or expanding portions of the project when an adjustment is deemed appropriate;
- assists the student in identifying funding sources and writes letters of support when the student applies for funding;
- informs the student of all deadlines and milestones in the process, and informs the student of all University policies related to the completion of a project;
- convenes scheduled committee meetings;
- reads and evaluates the writing quality of drafts, intervening as early as possible with students in need of additional assistance;
- obtains agreement from the committee that the final draft is ready for a defense;
- schedules the defense and announces the defense to the academic and graduate deans, the home department, and any other faculty deemed relevant;
- chairs the defense:
- makes sure that the student incorporates all revisions, corrections, and suggestions resulting from the defense;

• submits form to the Graduate School once project is completed.

Duties of Project Committee Members

Committee members:

- provide ideas, suggesting and resources;
- bring relevant announcements regarding funding, deadlines, conference opportunities to the student's attention;
- attend all scheduled committee meetings;
- read and evaluate preliminary drafts as necessary;
- read and evaluate the final draft;
- participate in the defense.

Changes in Membership on Project Committee

• There may be circumstances when it is necessary to change members on the Project Committee. This decision should be made in direct consultation with the Chair of the project committee or if necessary, with the MSN Program Director. It is the student's responsibility to inform all committee members of the changes and to complete and submit any forms requiring signatures of the entire committee. Any changes to committee membership may involve delays in the completion of the project.

Final Report of the MSN Project

The final report of the MSN Project is a scholarly paper. The specific format for the paper is negotiated with the Committee Chair. Following final revisions, the paper is submitted electronically to the Committee Chair.

The report should include:

- Title Page: includes the name of the project, student name and academic credentials, and academic institution
- Abstract: includes summary information and provides an overview of the project
- Description of the Project: includes background and significance, description of the problem, theoretical framework, project description with purpose and objectives, project design, data collection, and expected outcomes.
- Evidence-Based Review of the Literature: Comprehensive and updated from the project proposal to represent the state of the science for the MSN Project
- Results/ Findings: description of results/ findings of the Project (data collected or generated)
- Evaluation: description of how each objective was evaluated. Include measures, instruments and methods of analysis
- Outcomes: description of whether each outcome was met or not met

• Recommendations: specific and directed toward the site, a policy, practice guidelines, or further project development.

The final project presentation and oral defense of the MSN Project culminates the MSN program.

Thesis Option (NUR 5999)

Students selecting the Thesis Option should follow the Thesis Guidelines in the Graduate Thesis and Dissertation Manual.

NUR 5999 Thesis 3 Semester Hours (1 sh + 1 sh + 1 sh)

This course involves the identification of a problem or knowledge gap in the area of nursing education and the independent pursuit and completion of research to address the problem. Students will utilize the research process to identify the problem, search the literature, develop a methodology, frame the work with existing theory, and conduct the research. Ethical standards will be observed and results linked to application in the profession. The thesis should define original and new knowledge, and may be quantitative, qualitative, or historical in nature. The three semester hours for the course are divided into 1 SH segments completed in each of the final three semesters in the program.

Purpose and Description

The thesis is an intensive formal research endeavor and is completed under the supervision of a thesis chair and committee. It generally requires at least three semesters to complete. The thesis option requires the completion of a formal research study including the identification of a problem or knowledge gap in the area of nursing education and the independent pursuit and completion of research to address the problem. Students will utilize the research process to identify the problem, search the literature, develop a methodology, frame the work with existing theory, and conduct the research. Ethical standards will be observed and results linked to application in the profession. The thesis should define original and new knowledge, and may be quantitative, qualitative, or historical in nature. The three semester hours for the course are divided into 1 SH segments completed in each of the final three semesters in the program.

Registration and Grading

Prior to registering for Thesis credits, all students selecting the thesis option must complete the <u>Thesis/Dissertation Committee Membership Form.</u> Students choosing the thesis option may register for a minimum of 3 credits of NUR 5999 divided over 3 semesters and a maximum of 6 credits which are applied to the MSN degree. The student must be enrolled in NUR 5999 in the semester that the final defense is scheduled.

 $\underline{https://graduate.appstate.edu/sites/graduate.appstate.edu/files/committee.pdf}$

Table 3. Thesis Steps and Forms by Semester

Semester	Steps
First Year Fall Semester	1. Seek advice from MSN Program Director to identify a suitable topic for thesis.
	2. Review Graduate School Thesis and Dissertation Manual. https://graduate.appstate.edu/graduate-thesis-and-dissertation-manual.
First Year Spring Semester	Identify thesis topic addressing a problem in nursing education and submit to MSN Program Director.
	 Identify and select a thesis chair and committee for departmental approval.
	3. Register for Thesis for Fall Semester (1 credit, NUR 5999)
	4. Sign Special Course Approval Form.
First Year Summer Session	1. Submit Prospectus.
	2. Establish Fall semester meeting dates and thesis proposal defense dates with thesis chair and committee.
	3. Complete the <u>Thesis/Dissertation Committee Membership Form.</u>

<u> </u>	
Second Year Fall Semester	1. Write and defend thesis proposal.
	2. Following a successful defense of a project proposal, the chair of committee is to complete the Report of Candidacy and/or Proficiency Form.
	3. Submit study for IRB review after proposal defense approval.
	4. Register for Thesis for Spring Semester (1 credit, NUR 5999)
	5. Sign Special Course Approval Form.
	6. Establish Spring meeting dates with thesis chair and committee for thesis progress reports.
	7. IRB submission through IRB https://appstate.myresearchonline.org/irb/
Second Year	Carry out thesis proposal.
Spring Semester	2. Register for Thesis for Summer Semester (1 credit, NUR 5999)
	3. Sign Special Course Approval Form.
	4. Establish Summer semester meeting dates with thesis chair and committee for thesis progress reports and defense.
	5. Apply for <u>graduation</u> .
Second Year Summer Semester	1. Thesis defense and completion.
	2. Complete the Graduate School Process for submission.
	3. Thesis submission-see Graduate School site: https://graduate.appstate.edu/graduate-thesis-and-dissertation-manual/defense-and-graduate-school-review
	4. Following a successful final defense, the chair of the committee is to file a Report of Comprehensive Examination.

Thesis Committee Membership

The thesis committee is comprised of at least three members. The Chair must be a full member of the graduate faculty and a member of the Department of Nursing. Other committee members may have affiliate status as defined by the Graduate School. If the research topic is interdisciplinary, the Committee Chair may direct the student to another department for assistance in developing the topic and may suggest that a graduate faculty member from that department serve on the Committee.

At most one committee member may be from another department or from a University other than Appalachian. A faculty member from another institution may be appointed to the committee, provided 1) the institution is regionally accredited, and 2) the faculty member has the equivalent of a Graduate Faculty appointment at that individual's institution.

Thesis/Dissertation Committee Membership Form

Duties of Thesis Committee Chair

The Committee Chair is the student's primary mentor, and

- directs the student's research project and submits a grade of SP (successful progress) or UP (unsuccessful progress) at the end of each term of enrollment;
- ensures that the student has complied with all federal regulations covering the use of human or animal subjects in the research project;
- assists the student by redirecting, limiting or expanding portions of the research when an adjustment is deemed appropriate;
- assists the student in identifying research funding sources and writes letters of support when the student applies for funding;
- informs the student of all deadlines and milestones in the process, and makes sure that the student understands all University policies related to the completion of a dissertation or thesis;
- convenes regularly scheduled committee meetings so that committee members stay informed of the student's progress;
- reads and evaluates the writing quality of drafts, intervening as early as possible with students in need of additional assistance;
- obtains agreement from the committee that the final draft is ready for a defense;
- schedules the defense and announces the defense to the academic and graduate deans, the home department, and any other faculty deemed relevant;
- chairs the defense;
- makes sure that the student incorporates all revisions, corrections, and suggestions resulting from the defense;

• certifies that the final copy submitted to the Graduate School is written in correct English, is formatted correctly according to the guidelines the disciplinary style used as well as the guidelines in this handbook, and is free of factual errors.

Duties of Thesis Committee Members

Committee members:

- provide ideas, suggesting additional or new avenues of research;
- bring to the student's attention all relevant announcements regarding funding, deadlines, conference opportunities;
- attend all scheduled committee meetings to keep abreast of the student's progress and the suggestions made by other committee members;
- read and evaluate preliminary drafts as necessary;
- read and evaluate the final draft;
- participate in the defense;
- assist the committee chair in ensuring that the manuscript that is submitted to the Graduate School is written in correct Standard Written English, is formatted correctly according to the guidelines of the disciplinary style guide used as well as the guidelines in this handbook, and is free of factual errors.

Thesis Process

Once you are in proposal stage, you will be working closely with your committee chair and select committee members to develop your proposal and thesis. Any materials that require Chair or committee review should be submitted at least two weeks before feedback is required. It is the responsibility of the student to manage his/her time appropriately and follow this policy. Failure to provide materials needing review in a timely manner, will delay the thesis process and ultimately graduation.

Please refer to the Graduate School website for required components of the Master's Thesis.

Overview of Thesis Prospectus for Proposal

The prospectus is a formal written document that is developed and serves as the foundation for your final thesis. The intent of the proposal is to:

- 1) Present an overview of the research and define the problem and question to be addressed, (Introduction-Chapter I)
- 2) Demonstrate appropriate review of the literature related to the problem (Review of Literature- Chapter II)
- 3) Outline the research strategy/design and materials and methods that will be used to answer the research question as well as the data analysis plan, (Description of the Research-Chapter III) and

4) Reference page and appendices (e.g., instruments used for data collection).

Proposal Defense

You will schedule a Proposal defense with your committee when your Chair has determined it is ready for submission to the committee for approval. The written proposal must be submitted to the committee at least two weeks before the Proposal Defense date. Failure to do so, may require that the Proposal Defense be delayed.

Human Subjects Protection

Once the committee has approved the proposal, the student must complete the IRB process. The formal letter of approval from the IRB must be submitted to the committee chair before the student can begin the research study.

Data Collection and Analysis

During this period, the student is expected to stay in close contact with their chair and give formal updates of progress. The timeline and format for these progress reports should be negotiated with the committee at the time of proposal defense. Analysis of data should be completed as outlined in the approved proposal. Data analysis may require internal or outside consultation as identified by the committee. The student is responsible for seeking and arranging this consultation with the approval of the Chair.

Thesis Completion

Once data collection and analysis has been completed, the student can begin the final stages of thesis. This includes incorporating any revisions to the first three chapters as identified by the committee and writing the results section (Chapter IV) and discussion (Chapter V). The chair will decide when the thesis is ready for dissemination to the committee for review in advance of the final defense. The final defense is scheduled with all committee members. After defense, the student is responsible for completing the appropriate forms for the Graduate School and submitting the thesis to the Graduate School as outlined on the Graduate School site.

Format

The Department of Nursing uses the American Psychological Association's format for scholarly written work (Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, 6th edition, second printing). For the final submission of the thesis to the graduate school, please follow the Graduate School's guidelines for formatting of the thesis.

Changes in Membership on Thesis Committee

There may be times when it is necessary to change members on the Thesis Committee. This decision should be made in direct consultation with the Chair of the thesis committee or if necessary, with the MSN Program Director. It is the student's responsibility to inform all committee members of the changes and to complete and submit a new <u>Thesis Committee Membership Form</u> with signatures of the entire committee. Any changes to committee membership may involve delays in the completion of the thesis or project. https://graduate.appstate.edu/sites/graduate.appstate.edu/files/committeechange.pdf

Switching from Thesis to Project or Project to Thesis

Students may decide after beginning a thesis that they would like to switch to the project option. This decision should be made in direct consultation with the Committee chair. Any credits for thesis or project will not be transferred. Three credit hours must be registered for and completed for the thesis option or the scholarly project option. Switching from a thesis to a project or vice versa will delay completion of the program and graduation.

Additional information can be found at the Graduate School website:

https://graduate.appstate.edu/enrolled-students/theses-and-dissertations/thesis-and-dissertation-preparation

Essential Dates can be found here: https://graduate.appstate.edu/enrolled-students/graduation/essential-dates

POLICIES

Core Performance Standards

Admission to the School of Nursing Master of Science in Nursing program is not based on the following performance standards, but on the eligibility requirements defined in the admissions materials. The performance standards are used to assist the student in determining whether accommodations or modifications are necessary and provide an objective measure upon which informed decisions can be based about whether the student can meet requirements.

- Critical thinking ability sufficient for clinical judgment.
- Interpersonal abilities sufficient to interact with individuals, families, and groups from a variety of social, emotional, cultural, and intellectual backgrounds.
- Communication abilities sufficient for interaction with others in verbal and written form.
- Physical abilities sufficient to move from room to room and maneuver in small places.
- Gross and fine motor abilities sufficient to provide safe and effective nursing care.
- Auditory abilities sufficient to monitor and assess health needs.
- Visual ability sufficient for observation and assessment necessary in nursing care
- Tactile ability sufficient for physical assessment.

If an otherwise qualified student believes that he or she cannot meet one or more of the standards without accommodation or modifications, the nursing program will determine, on an individual basis, whether or not the necessary modifications can be made reasonably. The following process will be used:

A student with disabilities who believes that he or she may need assistance in meeting the Core Performance Standards should contact the Office of Disability Services at Resources http://www.odr.appstate.edu/ or 828-262-3056.

Course Policies Related to Online and Hybrid courses

- 1. **Ask the Instructor: All online courses will contain an "Ask the Instructor" Forum.** For questions that might be of general interest to the class, students should post to the forum "Ask the Instructor" so that others can see the question and answer. Also, if the student notes a question in this forum to which they feel capable of answering, post an answer. The instructor will respond to questions and review other responses at least once every 24 hours during the week and at least once within 48 hours over the weekend. If the nature of the question is more personal or requires a more immediate answer, use email, Skype, or phone for contacting the instructor. It is recommended to check this forum whenever logging on to AsULearn to see if any new information has been posted
- 2. **Office Hours:** The professors will keep virtual office hours. The best way to make contact is by e-mail. To converse with the instructor by phone, Skype, or e-mail please set up an appointment by email.
- 3. **Student Lounge**: Online courses may include a forum titled "Student Lounge" for casual conversation, getting to know each other, random discussion, etc.
- 4. **Assignment due dates:** Students should check the course management system (AsULearn) frequently during course enrollment for assignment due dates. Papers, projects, etc. should be submitted by Mondays at 0800 EST on the day they are due. If a student lives in a different time zone, please plan accordingly. In the online community, it is common practice to use the time zone in which the university is located. Five points will be deducted per day from the score of any late assignment. After one week late the assignment will receive a score of "0".
- 5. **Weekly Activity Due dates**: The final postings for weekly activities and discussion contributions will be due by 0800 on Mondays. Initial contributions for forums should be submitted by midweek (Wednesday/ Thursday) to allow for peer response and interaction.
- 6. **Submitting Assignments**: Students should submit all reports, papers, etc, for online courses using the appropriate link in AsULearn. Name all assignment files as follows: Firstnamelastname_assignment title. Students should not e-mail assignments to the professor. If the wrong files are mistakenly submitted or there is a need to change something in a submission, students should notify the professor, and the erroneous submission attempt will be cleared for a second attempt.
- 7. **Activity Rules** (Discussion Forum): Activity participation will be reviewed weekly by the instructor, and typically forums will close at 0800 on Mondays. Students will be notified in the rare case when a discussion may be extended, or practice activities will last longer than one week. The forums can be reviewed, but students cannot post after the Sunday deadline.

- 8. **Discussion forum rules**: Whenever an original contribution is posted to a discussion board, a brief but descriptive title of the message should be included in the subject line. Students should consider the length of responses. When responding in a thread, construct postings so that it is roughly two to three paragraphs long. If including a quote or paraphrase, include the sources such as the page in the textbook or the web address. (Sources should be included with APA formatting.) All discussion forum posts require scholarly outside sources for maximum credit.
- 9. **Announcements:** Students should check AsULearn once daily, if possible for announcements. The section in online courses: "General Announcements" will be used for information of general interest, such as schedule changes or alerts to check the discussion forums, some other part of the course website, or e-mail.
- 10. **Checking and receiving E-mail:** Students should check Appalachian State University email accounts daily. Appalachian State University e-mail may be used for information that pertains only to a particular student or a group of students or to answer individual questions that are not of general interest or relevance.
- 11. **Sending E-mail**: Students should address course e-mails to the professor and to classmates with the phrase "NUR course number" and an appropriate subject. Many students are taking more than one online course and/or have a large quantity of e-mail, so this helps to quickly sort mail related to the course.
- 12. **Netiquette**: Students are required to use good manners and demonstrate personal courtesy in all interactions in AsULearn and in e-mails with online courses.
- 13. **Attendance**: Most courses in the MSN program are fully online, and most of the work will be asynchronous. In other words, students may enter the course, and work on weekly assignments at their own leisure. Students should keep pace with the class, progressing neither too rapidly nor too slowly. Discussion forums require that everyone is studying the same material at the same time. Procrastination can be lethal to the grade in an online course. The quizzes and exams (if applicable) will be opened for participation only at designated intervals.
- 14. **Attendance for hybrid course**: Attendance for the face to face portion of the hybrid course is mandatory. If a student is unable to attend any or part of the face to face portion of the course objectives will not be met and the student risks failure of the course.

- 15. **Academic Integrity:** All students are expected to comply with the Academic Integrity Code. Please review the academic integrity policies at the following website: http://studentconduct.appstate.edu/ Commitment to the Academic Integrity Code is inherent in the policies of Appalachian State University. Some examples of academic integrity violations are listed:
 - Cheating
 - Fabrication and falsifications
 - · Multiple submissions
 - · Plagiarism: It is expected that students present their own work, which represents their own thinking or study in an area, for evaluation. When reference material (work which includes unique ideas, findings including materials found on the Internet) of others is used, students should give credit to the original author. Failure to do so (inaccurate referencing, copying large amounts of material) may result in a grade of zero for the assignment and a charge of academic misconduct.
 - · Abuse of academic materials
 - · Complicity in academic dishonesty
- 16. **Individuals with Disabilities:** Appalachian State University is committed to making reasonable accommodations for individuals with documented qualifying disabilities in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Those seeking accommodations based on a substantially limiting disability must contact and register with The Office of Disability Resources (ODR) at http://www.odr.appstate.edu/ or 828-262-3056. Once registration is complete, individuals will meet with ODR staff to discuss eligibility and appropriate accommodations. If you have any need for special accommodation during this course, please notify the faculty.

STUDENT CONDUCT

Graduate students should read and abide by all policies outlined in the Graduate Bulletin. Graduate students using or participating in Department of Nursing or university related resources and activities on or off campus are expected to conduct themselves in a professional manner. This may include, but is not limited to technology, the library, and simulation labs. Students are expected to be familiar with and follow university regulations. Graduate students should be familiar with the Graduate Student Handbook and The Department of Nursing's Vision, Mission, Goals and Philosophy. Although, the Department of Nursing's regulations are congruent with the University policies and procedures in the Graduate Bulletin, there are additional policies that are required of graduate students.

General Professional Behavior

Attendance and punctuality is expected for all classroom meetings and all clinical and residency practicums. Tardiness conveys an unprofessional manner and is not acceptable as a graduate student. Specific policies related to attendance and engagement are outlined in each course syllabus. Graduate nursing students are professionals. One of the characteristics of a profession is the use of a code of conduct to guide decisions about behavior. A set of guidelines is useful because they make values, obligations, and limitations explicit. The guidelines can help with decision making but will not provide answers to all complex decisions. Students are encouraged to discuss questions and concerns about conduct with instructors and peers.

It is believed that the practice of nursing and the education of future nurses will be built upon integrity, a sense of responsibility, and self-discipline. Nurses are accountable for practicing within the framework of professional nursing standards (American Nurses Association Code of Ethics; Scope and Standards of Professional Practice). It is a corollary that graduate nursing students are expected to conduct themselves, both inside and outside of the Department of Nursing, in a comparable fashion.

It is the expectation that all students enrolled in the Graduate Programs at the Department of Nursing will conduct themselves in the manner that:

- 1. Shows respect towards others
- 2. Values contributions from other students, colleagues and faculty
- 3. Contributes to mutual respect, effective communication and team collaboration
- 4. Appreciates and acknowledges the life experience and individual perceptions for each and every student, patient, faculty member, or other individual they encounter at this institution
- 5. Recognizes and understands that graduate students in nursing are nurses who have experiences to Share which enrich the collaborative learning environment
- 6. Engages in courses and program activities

Professional Nursing Misconduct and Unsafe Practice

Students may be disciplined or dismissed from the program for any of the following violations: (see "Progression in the MSN Program")

The following behaviors will not be tolerated and if displayed by any student enrolled in the Graduate Programs within The Department of Nursing and will result in disciplinary action and possible removal from the program.

- 1. Demeaning, belittling or harassing others
- 2. Rumoring, gossiping about or damaging a classmate/professor's reputation
- 3. Not following the rules of Netiquette and/or social media policies
- 4. Lack of engagement such as not paying attention or listening to others who address you; not responding to email, letters or voice mail that requires a reply, or lack of participation
- 5. Sending emails that are inflammatory in nature
- 6. Unsafe clinical practice that consists of deliberate, negligent, omission, or commission acts.
- 7. Violation of the North Carolina Nursing Practice Act
- 8. Any act or behavior that threatens the physical, emotional, mental, or environmental safety of patients, family members or significant others, students, faculty, or health care providers

Students who engage in misconduct and/or unsafe nursing practice will not be eligible to reapply to the Master of Science in Nursing program. Students who have been dismissed for any of the above reasons are afforded due process according to the ASU student guidelines outlined in the *Appalachian State University Graduate Bulletin*.

Reporting

The graduate student is accountable for reporting any adverse event of a misdemeanor or felonious nature that occurs while enrolled in the Master of Science in Nursing Program. Such reporting must occur within 48 hours of occurrence to the Chair of the Department of Nursing. Reporting means the student directly contacts the Chair and requests an appointment to discuss the adverse event.

Dress Code

Graduate students are expected to dress professionally when representing the Department of Nursing of Appalachian State University. This includes but is not limited to clinical or practicum experiences, visits to agencies to prepare for practicum or clinical experiences, conducting interviews or assessments in the community, attending or participating in seminars, course work, workshops, or meetings. Photo ID name badge is worn on left side and must be visible at all times. Selected learning experiences may call for business attire with lab coat and name badge instead of the full nursing student uniform. In these instances, nursing faculty will specifically detail what is meant by business attire.

Updated 8/2018

Universal Confidentiality Policy and Agreement

General

The Department of Nursing ("Department") at Appalachian State University ("University") maintains strict compliance with all legal, regulatory, and policy requirements addressing confidentiality of patient, research subject, and student records. This departmental policy and the related Universal Confidentiality Agreement describe departmental expectations in this regard.

For purposes of this document, the term "students" includes undergraduate and graduate University Nursing students and students from other institutions who are completing graduate preceptorships with the University's Department of Nursing Faculty.

Policy

It is the Department's policy that students, faculty, staff, visiting professionals, and general visitors of the University comply with the requirements and regulations of this policy regardless of the agency or venue to which they are assigned. Such individuals may be involved in clinical placements and/or other activities, such as classes, labs, or conferences that involve indirect or direct contact with professional peers, clients, their families and/or significant others. This level of involvement requires the utmost level of professional behavior and responsibility.

Members of the aforementioned groups are provided access to placements/activities via a contractual agreement or Memorandum of Understanding between the University, the Beaver College of Health Sciences, the Department, and the agencies/facilities providing learning/clinical opportunities. Access to confidential information is permitted only on a need-to-know basis and limited to the minimum amount of information necessary to accomplish the intended purpose of the interaction.

Appalachian State University maintains strict confidentiality requirements and regulations in compliance with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA), Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 as amended (FERPA), and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) in addition to other federal and state laws. These principles of confidentiality must be strictly adhered to without exception so that the privacy of the privileged information is totally safeguarded.

Clinical or case materials prepared or used for classroom, lab, community/professional presentations, assignments, or written materials must be altered so that there is no possibility that the persons involved can be identified. This requirement includes specific details and circumstances as well as names.

The classroom itself is to be considered an area of confidentiality. Information shared, clinical and otherwise, and the reactions of classmates are not to be discussed with anyone other than the Faculty Member of record.

Any person who knows or has reason to believe that a breach of confidentiality has occurred in violation of this policy is required to report that information to the Department Chair and to the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance.

Breaches of Confidentiality

Violations of this policy include, but are not limited to, the following:

- 1. Failure to be knowledgeable of, adhere to and protect the policies of the University and assigned agencies/facilities.
- 2. Accessing or sharing of confidential/sensitive information that is not within the scope of the role/assignment.
- 3. Misuse, disclosure, or alteration of any confidential/sensitive information, electronic access or restricted areas.
- 4. Use of any electronic/social media means to convey any confidential/sensitive information related to clinical, student or faculty interactions.

The information below provides examples of mishandling of confidential information. <u>These examples are not exhaustive</u>, and individuals with questions about the applicability of this policy are expected to err on the side <u>of protecting confidentiality until clarification can be provided</u>. Questions about the proper handling, use, or disclosure of confidential information should be discussed with appropriate personnel.

Accessing information that is not within the scope of your job/role as student, staff or faculty member: Unauthorized reading of client/employee/student/subject account information. Unauthorized reading of a client/employee/student/subject's chart/file. Unauthorized access of personnel file or business/ operational information. Accessing information that you do not "need-to-know" for proper execution of your job or educational functions.	Misusing, disclosing without proper authorization, or altering patient or personnel information: Making unauthorized marks on a medical record. Making unauthorized changes to a personnel file or research data files. Sharing or reproducing information in a client / employee / student /subject's chart or personnel file with unauthorized personnel. Discussing confidential information in a public area such as a waiting room, cafeteria or elevator.
Disclosing to another person your sign-on code and/or password for accessing electronic confidential information or for physical access to restricted areas: Telling an unauthorized person your password so that he or she can log in to your work. Telling an unauthorized person the access codes for personnel files or patient accounts.	Using another person's sign-on code and/or password for accessing electronic confidential information or for physical access to restricted areas: Using another's password to log in to a hospital, agency, university, or other computer system. Unauthorized use of a login code for access to personnel files or student/client/subject's information, or restricted areas.
Leaving a secured application unattended while signed on: Being away from an electronic device while logged into a secure application. Allowing another person to use your secured application for which he or she does not have access after you have logged in.	Attempting to access a secured application or restricted area without proper authorization or for purposes other than official business: Trying passwords and login codes to gain access to an unauthorized area of the computer system or restricted area. Using a co-worker's application for which you do not have access after he or she is logged in. Using badge or login codes to gain access to facility for purposes other than assigned clinicals/orientations.
Intentional or negligent mishandling or destruction of confidential information: Failure to properly secure confidential information. Taking confidential information to areas outside your work area, e.g. out of the facility/agency, off campus, or to your home.	Unintentional disclosure of personal information: Failure to take necessary precautions to properly prevent unauthorized viewing of displayed or printed confidential information in all areas. Discussing confidential information in public areas.

Disposing of confidential information in a non-approved container, such as a trash can.	Inappropriate removal of documents containing confidential information from clinical/departmental areas. Using an email account <i>other than</i> an official University email account for conveying course/clinical/research/other University related business.
Intentional dissemination of confidential information: Distributing sensitive information via text, email, Facebook, blogs, etc. (See ASU Department of Nursing Handbook Social Media Policy). Electronic or digital transmission of unauthorized pictures or audio/video recordings.	Intentional and unauthorized securement, distribution, dissemination, modification or copying of photographs, videos or digital course materials. The ASU Release For Use of Photograph must be completed prior to securing any photos or videos.

Violations of Policy

Violation of this policy may constitute grounds for corrective action up to and including loss of agency privileges, academic or employment suspension, or termination from the Nursing Department in accordance with applicable agency/facility, Department or University procedures. Allegations of student violations will be addressed as academic integrity matters and considered according to the procedures set forth in the University's Code of Academic Integrity. Allegations of violations by University faculty or staff, or by visitors, will be addressed by Department and Beaver College of Health Sciences administration consistent with applicable policies and procedures.

Violation of this policy by any member of the University's student body, faculty or staff may constitute grounds for termination of the contractual relationship or other terms of affiliation between the University and the agency.

Unauthorized release of confidential information may also subject the violator to personal, civil, and/or criminal liability and legal penalties.

Updated 5/2016

Please complete Signature Form in FORMS section of handbook.

Social Media Policy

Purpose

To provide faculty and students with an understanding of the position of the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing regarding the use of use of social media and other electronic communications.

Definition

For the purpose of this policy Social Media is defined as any user-generated content or online network/applications that faculty or students may contribute to from a personal or professional perspective. Currently identified avenues include, but are not limited to texting, *Facebook*, *Twitter*, *YouTube*, personal or community blogs, or educational sites such as *ASULearn*.

Rationale

Social media is a promising innovation with the potential to enhance global healthcare information exchange and significantly impact patient care. However, social media is a tool, which when used inappropriately, has the potential to bring harm to colleagues, patients, the profession, and even nurses' careers. The ability of search engines to bring long forgotten information to current accessibility, with just a few keystrokes, may result in far-reaching consequences for individuals and the institution.

Policy

Representation of the University and the Department in a manner that is fair, accurate, in compliance with all confidentiality requirements and protective of the reputation of the individual(s) the university and any affiliated institution/agency should be the primary focus of faculty and students in any method of communication. To insure an understanding of the parameters of these emerging technology and applications, the following statements will serve as guidelines and will be modified as appropriate:

- All communications should be in compliance with the Appalachian State University Code of Student Conduct, the Appalachian State University Faculty Handbook and all university policies, as applicable.
- When representing the University, all communications should be made in a fair, accurate and legal manner that protects the brand and/or reputation of all involved and protects all confidential information.
- When expressing personal views and when your association with the University is shared, implied or apparent, make it clear that your opinions are personal and do not necessarily represent the views or opinions of the University.
- Communications should be made in a manner that protects confidential, sensitive, and proprietary
 information including such information relating to associated clinical facilities/agencies and their clients.
 HIPAA, University and other privacy, confidentiality and security guidelines must be followed at all
 times.

- Confidential and HIPAA protected information should not be posted in any avenue of social media or webpage.
- At no time should photographs or videos be made in a clinical facility/agency without the written permission of the administration of the facility/agency.

Considerations

- Think twice about posting to any site as no site is truly private. If you are unsure about a potential post, seek guidance and clarification from departmental faculty or staff.
- Respect your audience.
- You are responsible for your use of social media. It is possible to identify the source of communication when using so-called "hidden usernames", text messages and other types of social media.
- Promptly report any concerns about breaches of social media activity to the Chair of the Nursing Department.

Consequences

- Misuse of social media, including sharing of unprofessional or confidential information may result in disciplinary action that may include failure of the course or dismissal from the nursing program/position and/or penalties under HIPAA.
- Legal liability may be associated with communications found to be defamatory, harassing, or in violation of any other applicable law.

Please view the video at the link below which provides an overview of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing position on Social Media in the profession of Nursing.

www.youtube.com/watch?v=i9FBEiZRnmo

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oG7E-tR975g

9/19/12OGCapproved

Social Media PolicyOGCapproved.docx

Appalachian State University Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing Health Status and Immunization Policy

All Students admitted to the Department of Nursing are required to comply with all Appalachian State University Department of Nursing health requirements in order to complete the clinical related components of their courses. Due to the requirements of clinical facilities, faculty are required to be in compliance with this policy as well. The requirements have been developed in accordance with Appalachian State University Student Health requirements, Center for Disease Control (CDC), Immunization Action Coalition and facilities utilized for clinical affiliations.

Health Status:

A physical and the departmental physical form must be completed by the student's health care provider on admission to the program. A health history form must be updated annually and will be provided to the students.

During the academic year a student is required to inform the Department of Nursing of any change in his/her health status including illness or injury immediately. The student must notify the faculty, Program Director, the Chair and the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance. Any condition that is deemed to have the potential to jeopardize the quality of nursing care or the safety of clients will be discussed with the student by the parties mentioned above and appropriate action will be taken.

Immunizations:

All immunization requirements and the provision of documentation to the department must be met before participating in clinical and within the dates set for compliance. While immunizations are required for admission to the university, the guidelines for healthcare workers and specific clinical affiliations are more comprehensive. It is the decision of the Department of Nursing to comply with recommendations for health care workers developed by the CDC and the Immunization Action Coalition.

The following are the required immunizations for students and faculty:

MMR vaccine requirement: 2 MMR vaccines given at least 30 days apart are required for students born in 1957 or later. For those born prior to 1957 and those unable to provide documentation, laboratory evidence by a positive titer is also accepted.

Tuberculosis (TB) screening requirement: Initial TB screening – 2 separate PPD tests within one to three weeks of each other (a.k.a., "two step"). Students may complete a *Quantiferon Gold* (or similar IGRA blood test) in lieu of the two step PPD.

A positive TB skin test on either the first or second step, a history of a positive test or a positive IGRA blood test will require a chest x-ray and a review of findings by the healthcare provider.

An annual PPD screening within 364 days of the previous year's screening is required for those having a negative test result. Those persons who have a history of a positive test result are required to complete an annual TB exposure questionnaire.

Should any student or faculty member be exposed, subsequent testing will be required.

Tdap requirement: Tdap (Adacel or Boosterix administered after the vaccine release day of May 2005). A TD booster is required if the Tdap is \ge 10 years unless required sooner due to injury.

Hepatitis B vaccine requirement: A series of 3 vaccines **and** a positive blood titer is required. Should the titer be negative or equivocal the student must repeat the three dose series (according to CDC schedule) and titer. The student may sign a declination form.

Varicella/Chicken Pox Immunity requirement: If a student has no history of chicken pox disease, a two dose series of vaccine is acceptable.

If a student has a history of chicken pox disease, a positive blood titer is required. Should the titer be negative or equivocal the student must repeat the two dose series (separated by at least four weeks) and titer.

Influenza vaccine requirement: All facilities require proof of annual influenza vaccination. Specifics regarding type of vaccine and timeframe of inoculation are provided to students each fall.

Students and faculty must maintain currency of immunization status **throughout the program**. Refusal of immunizations may affect ability to complete program requirements. Additional immunizations or tests may be added at the discretion of the department to insure that students meet any new requirements from our clinical partners.

Adopted 5/11 Reviewed 5/14 Revised 8/2015, 4/2016, 5/2017, 5/9/2018

Forms for this policy are located in the FORMS section of handbook.

Student Criminal Background Check and Drug Screening Policy*

1. Introduction

- 1.1 It is a condition of initial enrollment in the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing (the "Department"), and a condition of eligibility to continue enrollment in a Nursing program, that Nursing students meet all academic and other requirements imposed by the Department, as well as requirements of each external health and human service agency where the Department attempts to place the student in a given semester.
- 1.2 The Department must secure the cooperation of independent external health and human service agencies ("Agencies") to provide appropriate educational, internship, clinical, or field experiences for its students. Increasingly, those Agencies will not accept students who do not meet requirements that apply to their employees, including drug tests and criminal background checks. Because criminal background checks are now required by the North Carolina Board of Nursing for all licensure applicants, and because of recommendations from the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO), many Agencies now require that Nursing students who will intern at their sites successfully complete criminal background checks and drug screening. Each student must undergo a criminal background check by a Department of Nursing-approved agency.
- 1.3 In addition to meeting all Department and other college and University academic and conduct requirements, students have the additional responsibility to meet requirements imposed by each Agency where they will receive clinical or field education, including internships. A student who is rejected by one or more Agencies because of failure to meet the Agency's criminal background and/or drug testing requirements will be subject to dismissal from the Nursing Program in accordance with the Department of Nursing Academic Dismissal Policy.

2. Agency Criminal Background Check Requirements

- 2.1 Students not meeting requirements regarding the criminal background checks are subject to dismissal from the program. See Student Handbook Dismissal Policy.
- 2.2 University officials will have electronic access to the criminal background report.
- 2.3 The University seeks information on convictions, all pleas that are acknowledgements responsibility, and all pending criminal actions. Arrests or detention orders that do not result in convictions or pleas will not be considered. The candidate will be asked to provide information about the candidate's criminal and discipline records. This information is critical, and a failure by the candidate to provide this data or to provide it accurately will result in a rejection of the candidacy or other decision adverse to

the candidate. All materials collected pursuant to this policy will be held confidentially and securely, and it will be maintained in a file separate from the regular files maintained for each candidate.

- 2.4 The existence of a conviction or plea, or other determination or acceptance of responsibility for a crime or misconduct, does not automatically render a candidate unqualified. Where such matters are evident, the following factors will be considered by University officials in determining whether a candidate is qualified:
- A. the nature of the crime or misconduct;
- B. the circumstances surrounding the crime or misconduct;
- C. the existence, number and type of other incidents of crime or misconduct;
- D. the time that has elapsed since the conviction or other determination;
- E. the actions and activities of the student since the date(s) of reported crime(s) or misconduct;
- F. the rehabilitation record of the student;
- G. any related information;
- H. the honesty of the student in disclosing and/or explaining the crime or misconduct;
- I. any professional opinions about the possibility or likelihood of future criminal behavior or other misconduct;
- J. explanations and/or other information provided by the candidate; and
- K. the willingness of a healthcare facility or other agency to accept the candidate for any clinical experience.

In addition, University officials may use the attached GUIDELINES FOR ASSESSING CRIMES AND MISCONDUCT AS THEY RELATE TO NURSING REQUIREMENTS AND ACTIVITIES.

- 2.5 The criminal background check will only be used for evaluating the candidate's qualifications; it will not be used to discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, creed, sex, gender identity and expression, political affiliation, age, disability, veteran status, or sexual orientation.
- 2.6 If a candidate has a criminal or disciplinary record, the University will:
- A. Compare the results of the background check to the application and supplemental information supplied by the candidate to determine discrepancies. If there are no discrepancies, and if the University has made an individual determination that the candidate is qualified for admission, continued matriculation, or certification or licensure, and there is no additional information indicating that a previous decision should be modified or rescinded, the previous decision may stand.
- B. If there are discrepancies or information indicating that a decision should be further examined, college officials must provide the candidate an opportunity either to (1) demonstrate that the report of criminal, disciplinary or other relevant history was erroneous (e.g. wrong person) or to (2) explain the discrepancy.
- C. If the background report is determined to be accurate and a discrepancy

exists between the reported information and the application or supporting material that the candidate submitted, or there is additional information that amplifies the application information or otherwise indicates that the admission should be examined further:

- 1. The presumption is that the candidate will not be admitted, allowed to continue matriculation or be recommended for certification or licensure if the candidate has failed to accurately disclose relevant information in response to a question on the application or inquiry by any University official. The burden is on the candidate to demonstrate that the omission or misinformation was the result of an honest mistake, that it was not intended to mislead, and that a decision should be rendered in favor of the candidate in spite of the failure to disclose;
- 2. If the failure to disclose accurate information does not result in a decision adverse to the candidate, but there is information that draws the decision into question, before the candidate may be admitted, matriculate, or obtain a recommendation for certification or licensure, an authorized University official must make an individual determination as to whether the nature of any crime committed or other behavior disclosed, together with other available information, suggests that the candidate is unqualified. If the official determines that the candidate is not qualified, that official or a designee must notify the candidate of the decision to deny admission or continued matriculation, or decline to make a positive recommendation for the candidate's certification or licensure. If not, the candidate may be admitted, matriculate or obtain a recommendation in accordance with other University policies and procedures.
- 2.7 University officials must maintain a record of the background checks, if any, conducted on each candidate and the results of those checks. If a candidate's record shows a history of conviction of, guilty plea to, or acceptance of responsibility for a crime or a significant disciplinary sanction at the University or another educational institution, the University shall maintain a record of the process used to determine whether or not the candidate was qualified and of the basis for that determination.
- 2.8 The student is accountable for reporting any charges of a misdemeanor or felonious nature that occurs while enrolled in the MSN Program within 48 hours of occurrence to the Chair of the Department of Nursing. Reporting means that the student directly contacts the Chair and requests an appointment to discuss the charges.

3. Drug/Alcohol Screening Requirements

3.1 To ensure patient safety, and comply with clinical facility policies, the North Carolina Board of Nursing regulations [21 NCAC 36.0320(d)], and the 2004 Manual for Hospitals published by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals and Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO), students are expected to maintain personal health and hygiene, including, but not limited to, avoidance of any chemical substance that could impair judgment or ability to perform clinical or other duties, or otherwise endanger patients or other members of the healthcare team. All students entering the nursing program are required to obtain a drug/alcohol screen. The Department of Nursing reserves the right to direct a student to undergo drug screening at any time.

- 3.2 Students are admitted to the Department of Nursing pending a negative drug test. Students are responsible for costs associated with the drug screen. Students must further agree that all results are available to the university and the clinical sites associated with the program. The program is responsible for ensuring that students comply with individual hospital policy regarding disclosure of results. Students not meeting requirements regarding the drug screen are subject to dismissal from the program. See Student Handbook Dismissal Policy on page 12.
- 3.3 The nursing program maintains a no tolerance policy regarding substance abuse. All students must clear a drug/alcohol test. Failure to undergo this test, a positive drug/alcohol screen, or an altered sample will result in dismissal from the program. If the drug/alcohol screen produces a positive result and a valid prescription exists, the test will be deemed negative. For the purpose of this policy, a valid prescription is one that is verified during a time period when the student is under the current treatment of a licensed healthcare professional.
- 3.4 Students must undergo drug testing at a Department of Nursing approved drug screening laboratory. Students will bear all expenses associated with meeting these requirements.

20100324 CBC Acknowledgement and Agreement (DTC rev).docx Revised 5/15: 2015 CBC_DS policy.docx (BK rev) Updated 5/2016

* Please complete Signature Form in FORMS section of handbook.

GUIDELINES FOR ASSESSING CRIMES AND MISCONDUCT AS THEY RELATE TO NURSING REQUIREMENTS AND ACTIVITIES

In making an effort to assess comprehensively a candidate's qualifications, the University will carefully consider evidence of criminal convictions, court-accepted pleas indicating acknowledgement of responsibility and dispositions of crimes and information regarding other candidate discipline matters. The following guidelines may be utilized to assess particular convictions, pleas, and other dispositions of cases as they relate to nursing and performance of professional duties.

- 1. **Safety Risk:** Evidence of conduct that may create an unacceptable risk with respect to the safety of the University and/or school and University and/or school activities, employees, other students, including those in public school settings or related activities, or the public would likely disqualify a candidate. Such evidence may include, but not be limited to, conviction of one or more felonies and/or misdemeanors involving assault, assault with a deadly weapon, rape, sexual assault, armed robbery, reckless endangerment, or operation of a motor vehicle while impaired as a result of drug or alcohol ingestion and arson.
- 2. **Integrity Risk:** Evidence of conduct that indicates fraudulent behavior, deceit or dishonesty may create an unacceptable risk with respect to positions and activities that involve confidential documents (including medical records), security issues, sensitive data or materials, regulated issues and materials, financial matters and accounting. Such evidence may include, but not be limited to, convictions of one or more felonies and/or misdemeanors involving embezzlement, fraud, income tax evasion, forgery, burglary, robbery, larceny, theft, check kiting, issuance of bad checks, shoplifting and similar crimes, as well as academic misconduct (e.g., plagiarism, fabrication of data, cheating on examinations or representing someone else's work as one's own).
- 3. **Illegal Drug Risk:** Evidence of conduct that encompasses illegal drug distribution and sale or like activities may create an unacceptable risk for employees and students of Appalachian State University in light of Appalachian State University's strong stance concerning illegal drugs and its commitment to a drug-free workplace and educational and living environments, as well as employees and students in health care settings and related activities. Such evidence may include, but not be limited to, conviction of felonies and misdemeanors involving drug trafficking, drug sales or distribution, drug possession with intent to sell, drug and/or paraphernalia possession and similar crimes.
- 4. **Safety Risk for Students, Employees and Patients:** Evidence of conduct that encompasses harm or injury to others may create an unacceptable risk with respect to a student's enrollment in any curricular programs or participation in healthcare activities that serve patients. Such evidence may include, but not be limited to, felonies and misdemeanors involving abuse or neglect, molestation, taking indecent liberties with a minor, contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and similar crimes.

- 5. **Motor Vehicle Operation Risk:** Evidence of conduct that encompasses illegal, violent, or dangerous operation of a motor vehicle may create an unacceptable risk with respect to employment in positions or volunteer activities that require operation of any motor vehicle (i.e., buses, vans). Such evidence may include, but not be limited to, DWI, DUI, speeding to elude arrest, vehicular manslaughter, multiple convictions of careless and reckless driving and multiple convictions of speeding.
- 6. **Particular Position Risk:** Evidence of conduct that is likely to impede the candidate's ability to perform a particular duty or satisfy curricular requirements, or that otherwise indicates a significant risk to the safety of the student or those for whom the student is responsible, or effective conduct of University or health care institution programs.

Approved: 5/7/2010 Reviewed: 5/15 (BK OGC)

Updated: 5/2016

Appalachian State University Department of Nursing Safety and Technical Standards Policy and Procedure for BSN, RN-BSN and MSN Nursing Programs

Purpose: To validate all students' ability to meet the cognitive, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum, with or without reasonable accommodations, while enrolled in any of the Appalachian State University Nursing programs. This policy and related procedures shall be implemented in a manner consistent with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as subsequently amended. In addition, students must be in compliance with the patient safety and quality standards of clinical and other regulatory agencies.

Policy: For admission and progression in any of the Appalachian State University Nursing programs, all students must:

- 1. Meet the required eligibility requirements and the patient safety and quality standards of clinical and other regulatory agencies.
- 2. Newly admitted students must:
 - a. Complete the health appraisal and have a physical examination performed by a licensed practitioner such as a physician or nurse practitioner.
 - b. Complete and obtain approval of the "Safety and Technical Standards" form (attached).
 - c. Provide documentation of required immunizations including completion of 2-step Mantoux (PPD) testing.
 - d. Provide documentation of current American Heart Association CPR certification in adult and infant/child at the health care provider level.
- 3. In order to progress in the program, all current students must submit, at the beginning of each subsequent academic year, the *Annual Health*, *Safety and Technical Standards Self Evaluation* form (in the forms section of this document) for validation of meeting the safety and technical standards.
- 4. All students must maintain currency of immunization status, PPD testing and CPR.
- 5. Students who incur subsequent illness or injury must be assessed at the time of said occurrence to determine if they remain in compliance with this policy and its intent.

Confidentiality: The handling of all records and subject information will be strictly confidential and revealed only to those required to have access, e.g., ODR, Appalachian's Department of Nursing, clinical agencies, etc. Any breach of confidentiality will be considered serious and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken.

Procedure:

Initial verification of student of meeting required safety and technical standards

- 1. Once the applicant has met the eligibility requirements for acceptance, the "Safety & Technical Standards" form will be sent from the Department of Nursing to the applicant with the official notification of provisional acceptance into any of the Appalachian State University Nursing programs.
- 2. The student must complete the form and return it to the Department of Nursing by the specified return date.

Annual verification by student of meeting required safety and technical standards

- 1. Prior to the beginning of subsequent academic years, each current student must submit the *Annual Health, Safety and Technical Standards Self Evaluation* form (found in the forms section of this document) for validation of health status and ability to meet the safety and technical standards.
- 2. Failure to provide appropriate documentation as requested may result in the student's not being allowed to participate in clinical courses and/or dismissal from the program based on the inability to meet the safety and technical standards.

Reasonable Accommodations Due to a Disability

- 1. At any time within the program, students needing reasonable accommodations in order to meet any of the technical and performance standards must:
 - a. Make requests to the Office of Disability Resources (ODR).
 - b. ODR will engage in an interactive process to determine eligibility and may consult with the Department of Nursing to determine reasonable accommodations.
 - c. If reasonable accommodations are approved ODR will notify students regarding eligibility and will create an Accommodation Plan to identify the approved reasonable accommodations.

Temporary impairment verification by student of meeting required safety and technical standards

- 1. If a student is injured, is ill, or the student's health status changes, this must be reported to the Chair of the Department of Nursing within 24 hours and/or prior to clinical experience.
- 2. The Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance will request that the student provide verification from a health care provider of the student's continued ability to perform clinical activities. In addition, the student must also be cleared by the assigned clinical facility and the Department of Nursing in accordance with the facility's patient safety and quality standards.
- 3. A copy of the "Safety and Technical Standards" form and a cover memo for the health care provider to verify that the student can meet the safety and technical standards will be provided to the health care provider by the student.
 - a. The student will return the health care provider-completed and signed memo to the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance.
 - b. If the student needs accommodations due to a temporary impairment requests should be made to ODR.
- 4. The Department of Nursing will submit all associated documentation to the clinical facility for review and determination of the students' ability to participate in clinical.

Until a decision is made, the student will not be allowed to participate in clinical courses.

Failure to provide documentation

Failure to provide appropriate documentation as requested may result in the student's not being allowed to participate in clinical courses and/ or dismissal from the program based on the inability to meet safety and technical standards.

Disputing the decision

The student may make a written appeal of a decision made by the Department of Nursing pursuant to this policy. Such an appeal shall be made to the Chair of the Department of Nursing within fifteen (15) working days from the student's receipt of notice of the decision. If the situation cannot be resolved at the Department level, the student may appeal to the

Dean of the Beaver College of Health Sciences within 15 working days of the Department's denial of the first appeal. The appeal to the Dean must be submitted in writing and include documentation related to the situation. The Department will also have an opportunity to provide written documentation about the situation. The documentation will include specific details regarding why the Department has denied the appeal, and a record of the communication with the student. The decision of the Dean is binding (final).

Misrepresentations

Any identified misrepresentation, falsification, or material omission of information by the student may result in dismissal from the Nursing program.

<u>Amendments or Termination of this Policy:</u> Appalachian State University Department of Nursing reserves the right to modify, amend, or terminate this policy at any time.

Adopted 5/7/2010 Revised 8/4/201, 5/11/2017, 4/16/18, 1/28/19 safetechnical_standardshandbook[1].docx Form revised 10/2014, 2/2016, 5/11/17, 1/28/19

Safety and Technical Standards requirements for admission to, progression in, and completion of the BSN, RN-BSN or MSN programs in Nursing:

General abilities

To provide quality nursing care, the student is expected to possess functional use of the senses of vision, touch, hearing, taste and smell. All data received by the senses must be integrated, analyzed and synthesized in a consistent and accurate manner. The student must be able to observe patients accurately at a distance and close at hand. In addition, the student is expected to possess the ability to perceive pain, pressure, temperature, position, equilibrium and movement.

Observational Ability

The student is expected to be able to observe the patient/client holistically to accurately assess any health/illness alterations. Inherent in this observation process is the functional use of the senses and sufficient motor capability to carry out the necessary assessment activities.

Communication

The student is expected to be able to effectively communicate and receive communication, both verbally and non-verbally. This requires the ability to see, speak, hear, read, write, and effectively utilize the English language. A student must be able to elicit information, describe changes in mood, activity and posture, and receive nonverbal communications. A student must be able to communicate effectively and sensitively with patients. Communication includes not only speech, but reading and writing. The student must be able to communicate effectively and efficiently in oral and written form with all members of the health care team.

Motor Ability

The student is expected to be able to perform gross and fine motor movements required to provide holistic nursing care. Examples of care that the student must be able to perform include turning, transferring, transporting, and exercising the patients/clients. The student is expected to have the psychomotor skills necessary to perform or assist with procedures, treatments, administration of medications, and emergency interventions. Examples of emergency interventions reasonably required of nurses are cardiopulmonary resuscitation, the administration of parenteral medication, the application of pressure to stop bleeding, and the suctioning of obstructed airways. A candidate must also be able to protect the patients in emergency situations such as a fire event. Such actions require coordination of both gross and fine muscular movements, equilibrium and functional use of the senses of touch, hearing, and vision. The student is expected to be able to maintain consciousness and equilibrium, and have the physical strength and stamina to perform satisfactorily in clinical nursing experiences.

Intellectual – Conceptual Ability

The student is expected to have the ability to develop problem solving skills, and demonstrate the ability to establish care plans and set priorities. This includes the ability to calculate, analyze, and synthesize objective, as well subjective, data and make decisions that reflect consistent and thoughtful deliberation of the appropriate data. The student is expected to be able to listen, speak, read, write, reason, and perform mathematical functions at a level which allows the student to process and understand the materials presented (in both a written and a verbal format) throughout his or her course of study.

Behavioral/Social Attributes

The student is expected to have the emotional stability to fully utilize his/her intellectual abilities, exercise sound judgment, complete assessment and intervention activities, and develop sensitive interpersonal relationships with patients/clients, families, and others responsible for health care. The student is expected to have the flexibility to function effectively under stress; that is, the individual is expected to be able to learn to adapt to changing environments, to display flexibility and to learn to function in the face of uncertainties inherent in the clinical problems of many patients. Concern for others, integrity, accountability, interest and motivation are necessary personal qualities.

8/4/2011 safetechnical_standardshandbook[1].docx Form revised 10/2014, 2/2016, 1/28/19

Accident and Injury Policy and Procedure

Purpose:

To be in compliance with Nursing Department and Appalachian State University institutional guidelines for reporting, providing appropriate intervention, and follow-up post-accident or injury.

Policy:

Students are responsible for reporting any accident or injury to their faculty and the Chair of the Department of Nursing immediately. Appropriate intervention/treatment should occur in a timely fashion. The *Event Report for Accident or Injury* located in the FORMS section should be completed and turned in to the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance within 48 hours of the event. A University Report will be made via http://hrs.appstate.edu/initial-notification-injury-form

Definition:

An accident/injury is defined as an undesirable and unexpected event which results in potential or personal harm that impacts the faculty or the student's ability to provide safe and quality patient care. In addition, an accident/injury includes occupational exposure to blood and body fluids and airborne pathogens during clinical/classroom labs. Occupational exposure may be described as a percutaneous (needle stick, cut, or puncture) or mucous membrane (splash to the eyes, nasal mucosa, or mouth) exposure to body fluids (blood or other infectious material), a cutaneous exposure when chapped or abraded skin or otherwise non-intact skin is contaminated with infectious materials, or exposure to infectious airborne agents by way of inhalation or contact. Events related to clinical travel are also included in this policy.

Procedure:

Students must report all accidents/injuries to the faculty, the Program Director or the Chair of the Department of Nursing and the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance. An assessment of the accident/injury will be made regarding the accident/injury relationship to the Safety and Technical Standards Policy and Procedure (see page 39).

For events that occur in the clinical or lab setting the student will initially report to the instructor/faculty. Events related to clinical travel are also included in this policy. The student, with the assistance of the faculty, must complete a Department of Nursing accident/injury report and/or agency incident report and seek appropriate medical follow-up according to clinical agency's policy and the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing. Students are responsible for the costs of any tests or treatments due to accident/injuries that occur during clinical/classroom experiences.

When an occupational exposure to blood or body fluids occurs, the clinical facility policy and procedures are initiated. The appropriate facility personnel will inform the individual that is the source of exposure of the incident and individual will be tested for serologic evidence of HIV antibodies and Hepatitis B antigen after consent is obtained. If the source individual has AIDS, is positive for HIV antibody, is positive for Hepatitis B antigen or refuses the test, the student should be counseled regarding the risk of infection and evaluated clinically and serologically for evidence of HIV or HBV infection as soon as possible after the exposure. Students with

seronegative results for HIV should be retested in 6 weeks, 12 weeks, and 6 months post-exposure (CDC, 1990). The student should be advised to report and seek medical evaluation for any acute febrile illness that occurs within 12 weeks after the exposure. An illness characterized by fever, rash, or lymphadenopathy may be indicative of recent HIV infection.

When students are exposed to TB disease, the student should be referred to his or her family physician or health school to begin follow up and appropriate therapy. Baseline testing should be performed as soon as possible post-exposure. The student must be cleared by a physician or health care provider prior to return to clinical.

Students who sustain any accidents/injuries should be referred to their private physician/health care provider or Appalachian State University Student Health for further assessment and follow-up.

Forms for this policy are located in the FORMS section of handbook.

Reviewed: 5/26/11, 5/15 Revised 5/11/17

Accident and Injury Policy.docx

Policy for Event Reporting and Form This document is a student education record protected as confidential under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act.

Event reports are used for the improvement of the quality of patient care and the reduction of any circumstances which might cause or contribute to the event being repeated. When used in this manner, event reports become a tool for the education of the students/faculty and support the facility's Quality and Safety initiatives. This policy and the accompanying form are to be used only for the purpose of education of involved parties within the Department of Nursing.

An event is any occurrence that is not consistent with the normal, routine operation of a facility and their policies and procedures, **which may result in or have potential** for injury and/or property damage. This definition includes **near-miss situations**. According to the Safe Medical Devices Act, event reports must be filled out if there is a malfunction of a piece of medical equipment. The FDA requires healthcare facilities to report when circumstances "reasonably suggest" that a medical device has caused or contributed to the death, serious injury, or serious illness of a patient. This type of event must be reported to the manufacturer and/or the FDA.

This confidential form is to be completed in conjunction with the clinical facilities' document and according to their policy. The person (student and/or faculty) discovering the event should report the event according to the facility policy and complete the facility document along with this form.

This report should be submitted to the Chair of the Department of Nursing or the Director of Academic Support and Program Compliance within 24 hours of the event. The Chair will keep the form on file in the Chair's office. A copy will not be placed in the student's file. The event will not be recorded on the student clinical evaluation anecdotal note.

If circumstances documented suggest the need, the report will be discussed by the Chair of the Department of Nursing with the Dean (or designee) and the Office of General Counsel.

Reviewed September 2016 Revised 5/11/2017

FORMS

Appalachian State University Department of Nursing Universal Confidentiality Agreement

I have read, understand and agree to comply with the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing Universal Confidentiality Policy. Further, I will read and comply with all University, Department and agency/facility policies and standards relative to confidentiality and information security.

I understand and agree that violation of the Universal Confidentiality Policy may constitute grounds for corrective action up to and including loss of agency privileges, academic or employment suspension, or termination from the Nursing Department in accordance with applicable agency/facility, Department or University procedures, as set forth in the Policy. I also understand and agree that unauthorized release of confidential information may subject me to personal, civil, and/or criminal liability and legal penalties.

I further understand that violation of this policy by any member of the University's student body, faculty or staff may constitute grounds for termination of the contractual relationship or other terms of affiliation between the University and the agency.

Please check one MSN student	e: □ Student from other institution	□ Faculty	□ Staff	□ Visitor
Printed Name				
Signature				
Date				

DRUG SCREENING AND CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT

APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY EDUCATION PROGRAMS REQUIRING EXTERNAL HEALTH OR HUMAN SERVICE AGENCIES

- 1. I understand and acknowledge that Appalachian State University ("University") has affiliated with several health care and human service facilities (hereinafter "Agencies") to provide internships, field placements or clinical experience for students ("Students"). I further understand and acknowledge that the Agencies have a compelling interest in the integrity of their services and the health and safety of their patients, others who may come into contact with Students, and the Students themselves.
- 2. I understand and acknowledge that in order to protect their interests, many Agencies require Students to comply with their drug testing and/or criminal background check policies and to undergo drug testing and/or criminal background checks as conditions of participation in their education programs. In addition, such Agencies often require that Students submit to the required drug testing and/or criminal background checks at the Students' own expense. I understand that the University will provide Students with information to obtain the drug testing and/or criminal background checks required by the Agencies.
- 3. I understand and acknowledge that an Agency may, in accordance with its policies, reject or expel a Student from participation in its operations on the basis of results of the drug testing and/or criminal background checks.
- 4. I am or will be enrolled as a student in the University's Nursing program, and I plan to participate as a Student in an educational experience at an Agency.
- 5. Because participation in Agency-related educational programs is a degree requirement for students in the Nursing program, I understand that I may be required to undergo a criminal background check and/or drug screening as a condition of my participation in an internship, field placement or clinical experience at an external health or human service agency.
- 6. As a condition of participation as a Student in the education program identified above, I hereby agree to comply with the criminal background check requirements at each Agency to which I am assigned. If the Agency facilitates criminal background checks, I agree to comply with such requirements and follow the procedures set forth by the Agency. If the Agency requires that I undergo a criminal background check prior to my placement, I agree to undergo a criminal background check by a University-approved agency at my own expense. I hereby authorize University officials to submit my original results to the Agency, which shall determine whether the results of my criminal background check are acceptable.
- 7. The student is accountable for reporting any charges of a misdemeanor or felonious nature that occurs while enrolled in the MSN Program within 48 hours of occurrence to the Chair of the Department of Nursing. Reporting means that the student directly contacts the Chair and requests an appointment to discuss the charges.

- 8. I hereby agree to comply with the drug screening requirements at each Agency to which I am assigned. If the Agency facilitates drug screening, I agree to comply with such requirements and follow the procedures set forth by the Agency. If the Agency requires that I undergo independent/third party drug screening prior to my placement, I agree to undergo drug testing by a University-approved testing laboratory at my own expense. I hereby authorize any testing laboratory performing such services to provide the test results to the University, and I further authorize the University to submit my original results to the Agency. Each Agency shall determine whether the results of my drug screening are acceptable.
- 9. I have read both the Criminal Background Check and Drug Screening Policy ("Policy") and this Acknowledgement and Agreement, and I understand their contents. I have had the opportunity to ask questions of and discuss the Policy and this Acknowledgement and Agreement with appropriate faculty and administrators in the Department of Nursing. I understand that I am responsible for meeting the requirements set forth in the Policy and this Acknowledgement and Agreement.

Date	
	Date

20100324 CBC Acknowledgement and Agreement (DTC rev).docx Reviewed 5/2014(BLK ASU Office of General Counsel) 2014CBC_DS Acknowledgement and Agreement.docx



Mandatory Pre-Admission Physical Exam Department of Nursing 828-262-8039

ASU Box 32151, Boone, NC 28607-2151

Mail or deliver to above address. Please copy for your records turning in to nursing office.

Name:			Banner ID #:	_
PHYSICAL EXAMINATI				
Temperature:	ai documenta		any category below to this form. Pulse:	
Respiration:			Blood Pressure:	
_				
Height:		\	Weight:	
Eye Exam:				
Acuity: Right Eye: Nea		Far:	Correction Used:	
Left Eye: Nea		Far:	Correction Used:	
Ishihara Color Test: Nor	rmal	Abnorma	Correct Answers:	
Peripheral Vision:				
	Normal		Abnormal	
General Appearance				
Skin				
HEENT				
Respiratory				
Cardiovascular				
Cardiovascular				
Abdomen	+			
Abdomen				
Neurological	_			
Speech	-			
Motor	+			
Sensory	+			
Musculoskeletal				
Muscle Strength				
Gait				
Extremities				
Spine				
Mental Health Status				
Current Meds:				

MD/DO/NP/PA Signature:Address:		
I understand that the Department of Nursing at Appalachia with appropriate clinical agencies or in the event of medical	•	ization information
Student Signature: Preadmitphysicalexamform[1] docx 7/13	Date:	



Department of Nursing

Annual Health, Safety, and Technical Standards Self-Evaluation

Emergency Contact Info Phone numbers Cell Work/Home	Name		DOB	Date	
Emergency Contact Info Name Relationship Work/Home tent with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 of it is the policy of Appalachian State University that no qualified individual with a disability shall be excluded from, of the program of the nursing program must be qualified individuals who are able to meet the essential competency ments of the program, with or without reasonable accommodations. Essential competencies include the ability to meet we, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum (i.e., critical thinking, communication, interpersonal ski ty, tactile ability, vision, and hearing). The Department of Nursing is committed to providing access to its programs to the dindividuals with disabilities. However, the Department of Nursing is unable to make accommodations that impose a burden, present a threat to the health or safety of the individual or others, or fundamentally alter the nature of the curricular didactic components, laboratory sessions, and clinical affiliations. There been any changes in your overall health status since your admission physical?	Address				
Phone numbers Cell Work/Home tent with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, it is the policy of Appalachian State University that no qualified individual with a disability shall be excluded from, of the subjected to discrimination in any university program, service or activity. In accordance with Section 504A, all applicants for the nursing program must be qualified individuals who are able to meet the essential competency ments of the program, with or without reasonable accommodations. Essential competencies include the ability to meet ve, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum (i.e., critical thinking, communication, interpersonal sking, tactile ability, vision, and hearing). The Department of Nursing is committed to providing access to its programs to additividuals with disabilities. However, the Department of Nursing is unable to make accommodations that impose a courden, present a threat to the health or safety of the individual or others, or fundamentally alter the nature of the curriculum glidactic components, laboratory sessions, and clinical affiliations. The been any changes in your overall health status since your admission physical?	City, State, Zip				
tent with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, it is the policy of Appalachian State University that no qualified individual with a disability shall be excluded from, of effits of, or be subjected to discrimination in any university program, service or activity. In accordance with Section 50 A, all applicants for the nursing program must be qualified individuals who are able to meet the essential competency ments of the program, with or without reasonable accommodations. Essential competencies include the ability to meet we, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum (i.e., critical thinking, communication, interpersonal ski y, tactile ability, vision, and hearing). The Department of Nursing is committed to providing access to its programs to ad individuals with disabilities. However, the Department of Nursing is unable to make accommodations that impose a burden, present a threat to the health or safety of the individual or others, or fundamentally alter the nature of the curricular didactic components, laboratory sessions, and clinical affiliations. There been any changes in your overall health status since your admission physical?	Emergency Contact Info	Name		Relationship	
it is the policy of Appalachian State University that no qualified individual with a disability shall be excluded from, of efits of, or be subjected to discrimination in any university program, service or activity. In accordance with Section 56 A, all applicants for the nursing program must be qualified individuals who are able to meet the essential competency ments of the program, with or without reasonable accommodations. Essential competencies include the ability to meet we, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum (i.e., critical thinking, communication, interpersonal sking, tactile ability, vision, and hearing). The Department of Nursing is committed to providing access to its programs to additiously with disabilities. However, the Department of Nursing is unable to make accommodations that impose a burden, present a threat to the health or safety of the individual or others, or fundamentally alter the nature of the curricular didactic components, laboratory sessions, and clinical affiliations. There been any changes in your overall health status since your admission physical? NO	Phone numbers	Cell		Work/Home	
		-	•	_	

Have there been any changes in your ability to meet the cognitive, affective and psychomotor requirements of the curriculum as outlined in the Safety and Technical Standards policy (Student Handbook)? \Box YES \Box NO
If yes, please describe in the space below and attach documentation from your healthcare provider.
Have you had any hospitalizations, injuries or surgeries since your admission physical? VES NO If yes, please describe in the space below and attach documentation from your healthcare provider.
To your best knowledge are you currently free from communicable disease(s)? YES NO If no, please describe in the space below and attach documentation from your healthcare provider.
Are there any health issues that may prevent you from participating in patient care? YES NO If yes, please describe and attach documentation from your healthcare provider.
Do you have any newly identified allergies: Latex Medications Foods Insects Other If yes, please describe:
If you have not already done so, please attach documentation of your annual PPD or the annual tuberculosis surveilland questionnaire (previously positive PPD with chest x-ray). I certify the information contained on this form is true and correct. I am aware that if during the course of the
academic year my status should change in any way that would impact my ability to perform in the classroom or

clinical setting, I must notify the Appalachian State University Department of Nursing Program Director. I also authorize the release of this information to the Appalachian State University Student Health Services if deemed

appropriate.

I understand that misrepresentation or omission of any information wi	ll be sufficient grounds for dismissal from the
Nursing Program.	
Signature	Date

Annual Health Evaluation Adopted 2011 reviewed 2014



Annual and PRN PPD Record Department of Nursing

828-262-8039

Please copy for your records before turning in to nursing office.

Name: Banner ID #:
TUBERCULOSIS: Students will complete the 2 step testing on admission and the 1 step testing annually (within 364 days or less) or upon request of the clinical agency.
The section below is to be completed by health care provider.
PPD Testing: PPD 0.1 ml intermediate strength inject intradermally in the left arm. READ IN 48 HOURS.
Date/Time administered: By: Date/Time Read: By: Results: mm
Chest x-ray required if Mantoux is positive, yearly for two years after first converting to positive. Date of x-ray: Absence of active disease: Yes No
Comments:
Provider Signature:Date:
Address:

I understand that the Department of Nursing at Appalachian State University will share health and immunization information with appropriate clinical agencies or in the event of medical emergency.

Signature: _	Date:	
-	 •	

PPDhealth_form[1].docx 09/11 Revised 04/12, 1/14, 5/18



Two Step PPD Record Department of Nursing

828-262-8039

APP STATE Box 32151, Boone, NC 28607-2151

Mail or deliver to above address. Please copy for your records before turning in to nursing office.

Name:	Banner ID #:
TUBERCULOSIS: Students will complete the 2 step testing.	
The section below is to be completed by hea	alth care provider.
Step 1 PPD 0.1 ml intermediate strength inject intradermally in the left arm. READ IN 48 HOURS.	Step 2 (2 nd test 1 to 3 weeks later) PPD 0.1 ml intermediate strength inject intradermally in the right arm. READ IN 48 HOURS.
Date/Time administered:	Date administered: By: Date/Time Read: Results: mm By:
Chest x-ray required if Mantoux is positive Date of x-ray:	e, yearly for two years after first converting to positive. Absence of active disease: Yes No
Comments:	
Provider Signature:	
Address:	
I understand that the Department of Nursing a information with appropriate clinical agencies	at Appalachian State University will share health and immunization s or in the event of medical emergency.
Signature: PPDhealth form[1] docx	Date:

09/11 Revised 04/12 07/13, 5/18

Department of Nursing ANNUAL TUBERCULOSIS SURVEILLANCE QUESTIONNAIRE

Risk and Symptom Questionnaire for students with positive TB test results

NAME (printed):					DATE:		
1. Were you born outside	the USA	in one	provide additional information for any YE of the following parts of the world: America, or Eastern Europe?	ES answe YE)	
			and lived for more than one month oth America, or Eastern Europe?	YE	ES NO)	
conditions: HIV/AIDS immunosuppressive m	S, organ of edication neck, gast	or bone is (e.g. I	ystem such as from any of the following marrow transplantation, diabetes, Prednisone, Remicade), leukemia, lymphon or jujeunal bypass, end stage renal disease		ES NO)	
worked or resided in a worked as a healthcare	jail or pr worker i	ison, wo	ng: used crack cocaine, injected illegal dru orked or resided in a homeless shelter, or contact with patients?	gs, YE	ES NO)	
Symptoms	YES	NO NO	ving symptoms in the past year? Symptoms		YES	NO	
Fatigue	123	140	Night sweats		ILO	110	
Weight loss			Low grade fever			+	
Loss of appetite			Chest pain				
Weakness			Bloody sputum				
Persistent cough**			Prolonged period of "just not feeling we	ll"			
			t related to lung disease or infection. ny questions answered YES:				
	evaluated	and you	re provider regarding this:YES u may be required to have a health care pro est of my knowledge.	NO vider cl	earance.		
Signature:			Date:				
Reviewed by: Signature:				Date:			

TB risk symptom_questionnaire.docx

Appalachian State University Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing

Accident or Injury Event Report

Part A: Documentation of Specifics Related to the Event

This report is to be completed legibly, in detail and with factual information by student and faculty member. Please use additional paper if needed.

2. Circle appropriate category for person involved:	
	Visitor OB:
Address: Pho	none Numbers:
4. Detailed statement of facts related to event and description of injury if applicable:	
5. Causative Factors: Please list and describe any causative or contributing factors	
Person	
Equipment	
Other	
6. Description of Immediate Action Taken/Treatment:	
7. Witnesses: Please list information below regarding persons observing/involved in the event	
Name(s):	
Address:	
Phone numbers:	
Relationship to the event:	
8. Notification of Nursing Department and/or Clinical Facility	

Name(s) and position of person(s) notifi	ed:			
Date:	Time:		How notified:	
Date.	Time.		now nothicu.	
Duinted Managard Claustone of Danger	Commission of Domest			Date and Time
Printed Name and Signature of Person	Completing Report			Date and Time
District AD	D. I. I. D.			D. J. III
Printed Name and Signature of Person	Reviewing Report			Date and Time
Don't D. Dogumentation of Inv	aatimatina Caman	amont of the Eve	4	
Part B: Documentation of Invo	esugauve Comp	onent of the Eve	ш	
1. Date:		Time:		
2. Name of person involved in event:				
2. Ivalie of person involved in event.				
3. Name and credentials of person inve	sugating event:			
4. Documentation of calls placed regard a. To whom	ling the event:			
a. 10 whom				
b. Contact information				
c. Synopsis of information gathered				
c. Synopsis of information gathered				
		4.		
5. Descriptive documentation of interven	entions and/or treatm	ent:		
6. Evaluation/Follow-up: Please circle appropriate category(s) and document action/plan below:				
Policy and procedure review Coun	seling Equipme	nt change Staff o	liscussion	
Re-education and return demonstration	Disciplinary pr	cocess		

7. Printed Name and Signature of Person Completing Report	Date:
77 Timeed Tunie and Signature of Ferson Completing Report	Dutei

05/11 Event Report for Accident or Injury.docx

Appalachian State University Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing Safety and Technical Standards Document (BSN, RN-BSN and MSN programs)

Na	me:				
	Last	First		MI	
Ma	ailing Address:				
	Street	City	State	Zip Code	
1.	the customary techniques for post the chest or abdomen to elic parts such as the breast or ab observation sufficient to note s	ohysical assessment such as a cit a sound indicating the rel- domen with the ability to d such changes as skin and eye	auscultation (listening wi ative density of the body iscern the size, shape ar color, and body position	without reasonable accommodati th a stethoscope), percussion (tapp part), palpation (feeling various bad consistency of masses), and via ning as well as to use such instrum- toscope (magnifying instrument	ping oody isual ents
	Yes (with or without accord	nmodations) 🗌 No			
2.		as giving injections of med		without reasonable accommodativenous lines, transferring, lifting,	
	Yes (with or without according	nmodations) No			
3.	•			ckly and effectively, with or with scitation and suctioning of obstru	
	Yes (with or without accord	nmodations)			
4.	Are you able to communicate provide patient education, and			o as to conduct patient interviews on the health care team?	s, to
	Yes (with or without accord	nmodations) 🗌 No			
5.	classroom and clinical hours, s	strenuous physical activity, e ous diseases, terminal disease	xposure to latex and others, and severe emotional	on and practice? Both may entail er allergens and taking care of patidisorders. Consistent class attended	ients
	Yes (with or without accord	nmodations) 🗌 No			
6.	Can you meet the immunization STATE Student Health Service			For information on costs at APP /98	

	MMR vaccine requirement: 2 MMR vaccines given after the 1st birthday and at least 30 days apart are required Tuberculosis screening requirement: Initial TB screening − 2 separate PPD tests within one year (a.k.a., "two step") or Provider Review if history of positive PPD. Then annual TB screening is required DPT/Td requirement: A series of 3 doses of DPT, DTaP, or Td one within past 10 years; one dose Tdap (Adacel or Boosterix) (date must be after vaccine release day of May 2005). Td will be repeated if Tdap is ≥10 years. Hepatitis B vaccine requirement: A series of 3 vaccines and a positive blood titer is required. Varicella/Chicken Pox Immunity requirement: If a student has a history of chicken pox disease, a positive blood titer is required. If a student has no history of chicken pox disease, a 2 dose series of vaccine is acceptable. Annual Influenza Vaccine: Required by clinical facilities.
	Yes No If no, why?
7.	Are you able, with or without reasonable accommodations, to listen, speak, read, write, reason and perform mathematical functions at a level which allows you to process and understand materials which are presented to you (in either a verbal or a written format)?
	☐ Yes (with or without accommodations) ☐ No
8.	Having read the Safety and Technical Standards for Appalachian State University Department of Nursing, do you require reasonable accommodations, consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act, to meet any of these requirements?
	☐ Yes ☐ No
tha Ap	ertify that the information submitted in this application is complete and correct to the best of my knowledge. I understand at submission of false or incorrect information may cause my application to be rejected or may result in my dismissal from opalachian State University, if admitted. I understand that any request for accommodation will be evaluated to determine the asonableness of the requested accommodation and the adequacy of the supporting documentation.
Ap	oplicant's Signature Date
	you have any questions regarding the above questions, please feel free to contact the Director of Academic Support and ogram Compliance for the Department of Nursing, Jill Venable (venablejz@appstate.edu).
Н	ealth Care Provider Verification
in	I have reviewed the information provided by the student in this document. I have discussed this formation with the student. To the best of my knowledge, this student is able to meet the Safety and echnical Standards required for the BSN or RN-BSN Program at Appalachian State University.
Ap	D/NP/DO/PA Signature:

safetechnical_standardshandbook[1].doc Safetechnical_standardshandbook UPDATE

Appalachian State University Final Grade Appeal Form Final Grade Appeal Procedure

https://academicaffairs.appstate.edu/resources/final-grade-appeal-procedure

	t a hearing before the Grade Appeals Committee, the student must file this completed days of the following semester in the Office of the Dean of the college or school in	
	Instructor Department Chair	
that the student	ng signatures are necessary only if the student intends to see a Grade Appeals Committee hearing. The lent has discussed the grade in question with the instructor and the appropriate department chair as required for this form, including attachments, is complete.	hey signify (1) and (2) that the
Student Signa	gnature Date filed with Dean's Office	
,	on back if necessary.)	
Phone Number Course in white Semester court	Full Name nber which grade is being contested (with number and section) ourse taken Grade Received Grade you believe you earned or appealing the grade:	
Remember tl	r that the burden of proof in Grade Appeals Committee hearings lies with the stude	ent.
2. Al 3. A	The syllabus for the course in which you received the contested grade All documented grades (graded tests, papers, projects, etc.) that you have A list of all other grades that you know you received in the course and any other factors influenced the grade (e.g., your attendance record).	that may have
In addition, y	n, you must attach the following to this form:	
 dis ap 	discussed the contested grade with the instructor (date) appealed to the department chair about the contested grade (date)	
To the studer	dent: Before submitting an appeal to the Grade Appeals Committee, you must have	
******	*********************	

grade was assigned.

Appalachian State University Beaver College of Health Sciences Nursing Department Clinical Event Form

This document is a student education record protected as confidential under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act.

This report is to be completed legibly, in detail and with factual information by student and faculty member. Please use back of form or additional paper if needed. Completed form should be given to the Nursing Department Chair within 24 hours of the event. Due to the nature of the information in the report, copies/scans of the form should not be made. This document is to be used only for the purpose of education of involved parties within the Department of Nursing.

Initial Data:				
Date:	Time:	Facility Name and	Address:	
	\Box AM \Box PM			
Exact location of event	t:			
Type of Event:				
Patient Student	□ Faculty □	Staff Other	□ (specify)	
	Not Witnessed □			
Name:				DOB:
Address:				Phone Numbers:
Student Name:			Faculty Name:	
Witness(es): use back of	form if needed			
Name:			Contact Info:	
Name:		(Contact Info:	
Provider(s): use back of	form if needed			
Name:		Notified: Yes		
Name:		Notified: Yes		•
Description of the Eve	nt: (WHO, WHAT, WHE	N, WHERE, WHY, HOW) (us	se additional paper if need	led)
Medication Event: Ye	s 🗆 No 🗆	Check all that ap	ply below	
Wrong Drug- Yes □	No □	Wrong Dose- Yes □	No □	Wrong Route- Yes □ No □
Wrong Time- Yes □	No □	Wrong Patient- Yes □	No □	New Medication Order- Yes □ No □
High Alert Med- Yes □	No 🗆	Misread Order (student)-	· Yes □ No □	Misread Order (faculty)- Yes □ No □
Transcription Error- Ye	s □ No □	Abbreviation Error- Yes	□ No □	Barcoding Error- Yes □ No □
MAR Misinterpretation	- Yes □ No □	Look/Sound Alike Med-	Yes □ No □	Crowded med prep area- Yes □ No □
Multiple meds simultan				Prior to Administration- Yes □ No □
Faculty present when m		No □ F	aculty present when 1	med given- Yes □ No □

Two unique patient identifiers used- Yes □ No □	Three safety checks omitted- Yes No			
Student competency verified- Yes No	Documentation- Yes □ No □			
OTHER:				
Treatment Management Event: Yes No No No No No No No No No No	Check all that apply below			
Wrong treatment- Yes No Wrong Patient- Yes Wrong Patient- Yes				
Treatment order verified- Yes No Crowded prep area- Yes No No No	Treatment order difficult to read- Yes No Wrong supplies/equipment used- Yes No No			
Omitted/Incorrect Assessment Prior to Treatment- Yes No No	Omitted/Incorrect Assessment Following Treatment- Yes No No			
Competency to perform verified- Yes No	First time student performed treatment- Yes No			
Discrepancy between facility policy/procedure and Nursing program				
OTHER:	s teaching of skin- 1es ii 140 ii			
OTILEK.				
	t apply below			
	⊐- describe-			
	Bed-High □ Low □ Night light- Yes □ No □			
Ambulation privilege- □ Unlimited □Limited with assistance □ Co				
	left in bathroom □ on bedpan □ bedside commode □			
Unlocked wheels on Bed Stretcher Wheelchair	ny type of chair □			
Other restraints (type and extent)				
Were narcotics, analgesics, hypnotics, sedatives, diuretics, antihyper	tensives or anticonvulsants given during last 4 hours? Yes \(\sigma\) No \(\sigma\)			
Drug(s) Dose(s)-	Time(s)-			
Other contributing factors:				
Othor Cofety Management Events Veg - No -	Charle all that analy halow			
Other Safety Management Event: Yes				
Describe:				
Describe.				
Patient Hand-off compromised- Yes □ No □				
Describe:				
Bloodborne Pathogens Protocol compromised- Yes No				
Describe:				
Infection Control compromised- Yes □ No □				
Describe:				
Describe.				
Confidentiality/HIPAA breached- Yes No				
Describe:				
Other type event- Yes No No				
Describe:				
D (00 1 d d 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				
Persons notified other than physician: include name, date and ti	me notified			
Nurse Manager:				
Risk Manager:				

Department Chair:			
Director of Academic Support and Program Complian	nce:		
Additional info from faculty perspective:	Additional info	o from student perspect	tive:
		,	
Evaluation/Follow-up: Please circle appropriate categ Staff discussion Policy and procedure review	cory(s) and document action Equipment change		
□Re-education and return demonstration □Disciplinary		semig	
= 1.0 caucation and recall defined state = 22.50.p.mary	pro ve ss 20 mer		
Printed Name and Signature of Faculty Completing R	eport		Date:
Printed Name and Signature of Student			Date:

2016 Event Report.docx

APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY

Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing Scholarly Project Committee Membership Form

The Scholarly Project Committee consists of a Chair and at least one additional committee member, all members of the graduate faculty; at most one member may be from outside the major unit/program and serve as a project consultant.

We, the undersigned, agree to serve as Name:		Banner ID:		
Major:		Bailler 1D.		
Title of Scholarly Project:				
Research Compliance – Check				
1. The research involves human s	•	3 number and submission date:		
· ·		bjects, including surveys, interviews, et		
<u>*</u>	ebrate animals* Y L N L IA0	CUC number and submission date:		
3. The research involves internat	ional collaborations or travel. (Expe	gort controls briefing may be required). zing or non-ioning radiation, or nano-matrix $\mathbf{Y} \square$	Y □ naterials. (N □	N □ Compliance
COMMITTEE CHAIR: I agree Printed Name (cannot be affiliate graduate faculty) Sign.		nd to provide mentorship on the scholar	rly project	process.
COMMITTEE MEMBERS	(minimum 1):			
Printed Name	Signature of Committee Chairperson	Date of Graduate Faculty Expiration		
Printed Name	Signature of Committee Chairperson	Date of Graduate Faculty Expiration		
Printed Name	Signature of Committee Chairperson	Date of Graduate Faculty Expiration		
DEPARTMENTAL APPROVA	AL: I recommend the appointment	of the above Scholarly Project Committ	ee.	
Printed Name & Signature – Department Chairperson or	Designee (NOTE: Chairperson MUST sign signate	ure pages for final manuscript submission)		

Date

Department

APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing

Project/Thesis Authorship and Submission Contract

Students must discuss authorship with their project/thesis chair prior to beginning the culminating research project/thesis. Students are expected to submit their project/thesis for publication. The student must include and notify all faculty members of any submission for publication or presentation. Students have one year after the completion of the project/thesis to submit for publication. After six months, the research may become property of the university and the project/thesis chair has the option of publishing the document with rights as first author should they wish to invoke those rights.

Student Signature	Date
Project/Thesis Chair Signature	 Date

Student is required to include the faculty member as author at any point, prior to publication...require input and/or approval of chair prior to publication/presentation.

Authorship Guidelines for Graduate Students Publications and Presentation (Both Podium and Poster)

For Students within the Department of Nursing at Appalachian State University, the authorship guidelines for graduate level thesis and/or projects are as follows:

All students completing graduate level thesis or projects MUST include the faculty advisor or chair as an author on all poster presentations, podium presentations and publications that result from the thesis or project work during enrollment in the program and following graduation.

The faculty member serves as a primary investigator during the research or project. Therefore, the faculty member should be included as second author on any publication or presentation (both poster and podium). Faculty members MUST be notified prior to any presentation or publication submission. The faculty member must be allowed input prior to submissions of these types. It is the responsibility of the student to contact the faculty member and receive approval PRIOR to submission. These guidelines include poster presentation at local hospitals or other venues, whether local, regional or national.

General Authorship

In general, authorship guidelines are determined between all parties involved. For most all publications, authorship order is determined by the significance of the contributions to the article and/or research/project process. Authorship order is not determined by alphabetical order. If you include someone as an author, you do NOT create an additional acknowledgment line for that individual.

Examples of acceptable activities for authorship include but are not limited to significant contributions in the following areas:

- 1) Writing a Major Section
- 2) Data Analyses
- 3) Content Expert
- 4) Implementation of the Intervention
- 5) Implementation of the Data Collection Processes

General Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements can be given, as deemed appropriate, to individuals who contributed to the success of the publication but did not contribute significantly. They can also be used to acknowledge funding resources or grants. Acknowledgment is not given as a form an authorship but usually as one sentence in written form on at the beginning of a document for publications, manuscripts or presentations. For poster presentations, acknowledgments are included in written form as one sentence within the poster. For podium presentation, acknowledgement is given verbally as well as included on visual aids at the beginning of a presentation and/or on handouts.

Examples of acknowledgments on a paper include:

Acknowledgments: This pilot study was funded by a research grant from the Phi Upsilon chapter of Sigma Theta Tau International. The authors would like to acknowledge the statistical analyses contributions of Dr. John Doe.

Examples of acknowledgment activities for publication include but are not limited to contributions in the following areas:

- 1) Literature Review
- 2) Minor Contributions During the Intervention or Data Collection Process
- 3) Editorial Changes
- 4) Transcription Services
- 5) Funding
- 6) Serving in a Research or Graduate Assistant Role

Please sign below and return the signed document to your thesis advisor or project chair within the Department of Nursing. By signing this document, I am agreeing to uphold the authorship and acknowledgement guidelines set forth by the Department of Nursing at Appalachian State University.				
Student Signature	Date			
Project/Thesis Chair Signature	Date			



This form is to be completed at the beginning of each academic year. Please print legibly.

BSN \square RN to BSN \square MSN \square

Student Informati	ion				
Full Name:			Birthdate:		
Permanent Mailing A	Address:				
Phone Number(s):					
Banner ID Number:		SS Nun	nber (last four di	gits)	
App Email:					
Personal Email:					
Emergency Contact	Name(s):				
Phone Number(s):					
Vehicle Informati	on-Prelicensure o	nly			
Tag Number	Make	Model	Year	Color	State

Forms Student Information Sheet.docx 8/15 rev. 8/16

Appalachian State University State Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing Blanket Release For Use of Photograph

I hereby grant to the Department of Nursing and Appalachian State University (hereafter referred to as "ASU"), its legal representative and assigns, and those acting with its permission, or its employees, the right and permission to make, use and/or copyright, reuse and/or publish, display (including in PowerPoint and other presentations), and re-publish photographic or digital pictures or images of me, or in which I may be distorted in character, or in form, in conjunction with my own or a fictitious name, or reproductions thereof, in color or black and white, made through any media by the Department of Nursing and/or ASU, for display or other purposes, including the use of any printed material in conjunction therewith.

I hereby waive any right to inspect or approve the finished photograph, copy or printed material that may be used in conjunction therewith or to the eventual use that it might be applied.

I hereby release, discharge and agree to save harmless the Department of Nursing, the State of North Carolina, the University of North Carolina, ASU, and their respective representatives, assigns, employees, agents or any persons, corporation or corporations, acting under its permission or authority, or any person, persons, corporation or corporations, for whom it might be acting, including any firm publishing and/or distributing the finished product, in whole or in part, from and against any liability as a result of any distortion, blurring, or alteration, optical illusion, or use in composite form, either intentionally or otherwise, that may occur or be produced in the taking, processing or reproduction of the finished product, its publication or distribution of the same, even should the same subject me to ridicule, scandal, reproach, scorn, or indignity.

I hereby warrant that I am over eighteen years of age, and competent to contract in my own name insofar as the above is concerned.

I HAVE READ THE FOREGOING RELEASE, AUTHORIZATION AND AGREEMENT, BEFORE AFFIXING MY SIGNATURE BELOW, AND WARRANT THAT I FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS THEREOF.

Signature	Date	
Printed Name		
Address		

Appalachian State University Department of Nursing Consent and Release Authorization Form

I hereby authorize Appalachian State University through its Department of Nursing (hereinafter "University") to provide the following information to any and all clinical facilities and training sites to which I may request a clinical placement: criminal background check, drug testing, physical and safety and technical standards examination documents, immunization/titer records, TB testing records, proof of completion of clinical education requirements including information that constitutes an educational record as that term is defined by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and any other documents required by the Affiliation Agreement between University and the clinical facility/training site. I understand that any statements that I have placed in my records commenting on contested information contained in the records listed above will be released along with the records to which they relate.

I hereby release, indemnify and hold harmless Appalachian State University, the University of North Carolina, the State of North Carolina and their respective trustees, directors, officers, agents, representatives and employees from and against any liability or damage in connection with the release of criminal background check, drug testing, other health information and requirements referenced above.

I understand and agree that it is my responsibility to keep the clinical requirements current for each semester. I should keep all original documents and be prepared to show them each semester if requested by the assigned health care facility. It is possible that participation at a particular facility may necessitate additional screening or that additional screening may be required during the course of the program (this may incur an additional cost at that time). I understand clinical facilities and/or training sites may refuse to permit me to access clients/patients based on information contained in the reports and that their criteria may differ from the criteria of the Appalachian State University's Department of Nursing.

I further authorize the clinical facilities and/or training sites where I am placed for my clinical experience to share any information they have regarding my participation in the clinical training program at their site with University. I hereby release, indemnify and hold harmless the applicable clinical facility, training site(s) and their respective officers, employees, agents, contractors, and other representatives from any liability or damage in connection with their release of the information noted in this provision to University.

I have the right to terminate this consent and release at any time in writing, however, I understand that doing so will prevent the University from providing the information necessary for me to be placed at or permitted to engage in a clinical experience.

I HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THIS CO	ONSENT AND RELEASE AND AGREE THAT IT WILL
LEGALLY BIND ME AND MY ESTATE, AN	D I SIGN IT VOLUNTARILY.
Student Signature	Date

Name (Print)				Banner ID
Email				Phone number
Check Program/Status:	$\square BSN$	□RN-BSN	$\square MSN$	□Faculty

APPALACHIAN STATE UNIVERSITY Beaver College of Health Sciences Department of Nursing

Student Handbook Student Agreement Form

nt name)	
fy that I have received notification that the academic year 2018-2019 ASU Department of Nursing	
ent Handbook is available for review online.	
gning this form I certify that I have read the academic year 2018-2019 ASU Department of Nursin	ng
ent Handbook and acknowledge that I am responsible for its contents and for adhering to the poli	cies
ein.	
ature Date	